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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MERE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALFE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FAET FET FAET FET FHETT
Revenue 1 & 336,962 336,704 365,715 488,964 655,518
Gross profit EF 53,797 47,809 62,353 81,733 103,810
Operating (loss) profit ) g (BB s (4,088) 3,871 20,581 27,578 34,834
(Loss) Profit for the year FE (E518) &5 H (5,230) 1,602 26,225 22,783 27,642
(Loss) Profit attributable to Equity 7R A &4E 53 A A (L
holders of the Company (E18) & (5,230) 1,602 26,225 22,783 27,642
(Loss) Earnings per share Tk (E18) &7
(HK cents) (L) (0.37) 0.11 1.87 1.57 1.78
% % % % %
Gross profit margin ESVAES 16.0 14.2 17.0 16.7 15.8
Operating profit margin ERE -1.2 1.1 5.6 5.6 5.3
Net profit margin FREE -1.6 0.5 7.2 4.7 4.2
] It represents earnings (losses) before interest and taxation. U HEREREBAAF (FE) -
Revenue by services Revenue by segment
RIRH & 2 K BoEE DBk
13.7%
Year ended

31 December
HZ12A31HILFE

Income from rendering of feeder shipping services

R Sz AR A ARG HO A

Income from rendering of barge services

BB A AR A R HLA

Income from rendering of carrier owned container
services

ReftiE A B BRERFHIRA

] Income from rendering of sea freight forwarding
agency services

RS EEERERBHRA

2021

2022

Fujian routes

REHAR

Guangxi routes

EPaMAR

Guangdong routes

ERAAR

Hainan routes

BEMAR

44.0%

u Sea freight forwarding agency services
B EERERS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBERE

At 31 December
MW12A31H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET FET FET FET

Current assets MBNEE 132,308 138,305 173,596 221,498 238,006
Current liabilities meaE 107,821 127,175 203,529 198,026 191,695
Net current assets (liabilities) mEEE(BE)FE 24,487 11,130 (29,933) 23,472 46,311
Net assets BEFE 113,079 114,045 142,421 197,317 220,390
Total assets BESE 220,000 242,606 347,940 396,514 413,132

Gearing ratio (%) BEEBELE %) 29.7 35.9 34.4 36.7 30.4
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present our annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group is a well-established waterborne trade and freight service
provider in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and
Hong Kong, which provides mainly four kinds of services, namely (i)
feeder shipping services, (i) carrier owned container services, (iii) sea
freight forwarding agency services, and (iv) barge services, with points
of operation in Hong Kong, Fujian Province, Guangdong Province,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and Hainan Province. Most of our
points of operation are located in strategic transportation ports, which
enable our local staff to closely communicate with our customers to
strengthen our relationship and understand the local market.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, container throughput of
Hong Kong port decreased by 6.3% as compared with the same period
last year, according to the data released by the Marine Department of
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of
the PRC. Yet, thanks to the joint efforts of the management team and
all staff members of the Group, the Group achieved better results than
last year. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$655,518,000 (2021: approximately
HK$488,964,000). The Group recorded profit for the year of
approximately HK$27,642,000 (2021: approximately HK$22,783,000).

EFERES

BAIRER

RAAZERRKEEEZBRERAR ([AQA] - &
BENBARSABIAEEDEE((EE)e(E
E2|)  MASRARFEHE2022F12A31H1E
FEMNFIR-

AEEREEIUMFEARKEME ([FE]) &
ERKEE S RMERGEER = BRENER
% DRIA () TEMARTS - (i) FREABBRIR - (i)
HLEEBRERE - RvVEMRE  RES B2
HERE BOAMAKBARELEEEARBZEE
B BRI EERMNBEEERED - MU
FEREMHBEHETHEFERHE ZEEHHERK
RTREEHTS -

REFEEBFINITREBRNEEREMOEE -
HE2022F12A31HIEFE  EEEONERS
HEREFRB TKE3% AWM BERAEEE
BEFHE2BESRLH N  AEERNEEBRE
FoHE2022F 12 A3IBLLFE  AEEEB W
25 #9655,518,000 78 7T (2021 4F : #7488,964,000 75
T0) o AE B SRS FE R F 427,642,000 7T (2021
£F 1 #922,783,000/87T) °
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Although there are signs of a global economic slowdown, after three
years of strict epidemic prevention measures within mainland China that
have protected the vast majority of citizens’ lives and health, currently,
the virus has weakened significantly and vaccines are gradually
becoming more widely available. The central government of China has
timely adjusted its epidemic prevention policies, and social activities
have returned to normal. Therefore, it is expected that with the recovery
of the Chinese economy, there will be an increase in shipment volume
due to the economic growth.

However, in recent years, the escalating tensions between China and
the US brought uncertainty to the global trade market. Coupled with
fierce price competition among the regional shipping carriers, the Group
is facing a number of challenges in 2023.

In response to these challenges, our group has been actively exploring
the feasibility of extending our shipping routes in new ports located in
the southern China and taking all feasible measures to improve cost-
effectiveness.

Also, the Group is cautiously formulating our investment strategies to
bring value over the medium to long term period for our shareholders.
We believe that these measures will enable the Group to move forward
against various uncertainties and lay the way for our greater success in
the future.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all our staff for their
dedication and contributions. | would also like to extend appreciation
to our customers, suppliers, business associates and shareholders for
their continuous support.

Lau Yu Leung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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BEERREBELRMENR - FEAMEB=FK
BRhRERREEETRNES MERER Ry
WEEARES  REEBRITEHLEE HEFR
BREEBRAERHREER L8RP EELS -
At - BHIREE T BEEEER  KEERGETH
KEBEE LT

R EFEPEANTR  REREZHEERD
FREAR X - i1 R AEER BT AR NRES
2023 FHE L B EBLE -

RS B AR E D EERE SN AEREE
R T O T T - SRR T A7 48 3
RAHE -

SO AEBEEFREG ERERBASRRETRP R
HIEE - RAEEZSEEESARENSETR
ERERTHEBRIIT - WA S BHAERKIBEX
FRE ©

AANERREZ SR AEEMBEETINRAL
BR - RAE NRATREERAEREFS  fER %
BBMEAMBERO TN XHHAROHE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Group is pleased to report the results for the year ended 31
December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$655,518,000 (2021: approximately
HK$488,964,000), representing an increase of 34.1% over the same
period last year. The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$103,810,000 (2021: approximately HK$81,733,000), representing
an increase of 27.0% over the same period last year. The gross profit
margin decreased from 16.7% to 15.8%. The Group recorded a profit
for the year of approximately HK$27,642,000 (2021: approximately
HK$22,783,000).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022, container throughput of
Hong Kong port decreased by 6.3% as compared with the same period
last year, according to the data released by the Marine Department of
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
PRC.

Notwithstanding the tough operational environment, with the continuous
efforts of the Group, the Group’s feeder shipping services, carrier owned
container services and barge services recorded an increase in total
shipment volume of 61,803 twenty-foot equivalent units (the “TEUS”) or
14.7%, from 420,561 TEUs to 482,364 TEUs, and an increase in gross
profit of approximately HK$21,071,000 or 30.6%, from approximately
HK$68,886,000 to approximately HK$89,957,000, for the year ended
31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding period last
year. The increase in the gross profit was mainly attributable to the
increase in shipment volume and the increase in the average unit of the
Group’s services. This was a result of the tight supply in the container
transportation market, which led to an increase in customer demand.

The Group’s sea freight forwarding agency services recorded a
decrease in shipment volume of 633 TEUs or 6.8%, from 9,318
TEUs to 8,685 TEUs, however there was an increase in gross
profit of approximately HK$1,006,000 or 7.8%, from approximately
HK$12,847,000 to approximately HK$13,853,000, for the year ended
31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding period last
year. The increase in gross profit was mainly attributable to increase in
average unit price of sea freight forwarding agency services as a result
of increase in customers’ demand.

BEEENWR DN

Bt 7 B B8
REBRAZREE 202212 A31 HILFEESE -

HE2022F 12 A31HIEFE  REBSFESRELD
655,518,000 7% 7T (2021 4F : 49488,964,000787T) °
BEFREAEMNIL1% - KREBEFRSENENNE
103,810,000/ 7T (20214 : #981,733,00078 L) -
&R F R EEIN27.0% c EFEBIH16.7%m D &=
15.8% o AR &£ B A A [Z 8115 4927,642,000 78 7T i
F (2021 4F : #922,783,000787T) °

XK E R
BIEREESERTHREBMEEREHMOEE
HE2022F 12 A HIEFE  EFEONERA
M S&8EFREATEE.3%

BELERERE MAKERERHILE
REZE2022F12A31BILFEE  KREBE &M
G AEBEABBREBREEREMRESES TR
ARy ([1ZER ) B2 R A= F R 420,561 @
Z 5512 161,803 1E 8% 14.7% = 482,364 & 1Z #
%8 M E F B % F 7 B 468,886,000 78 7T 15 10 49
21,071,000 JT 8 30.6% Z #789,957,00058 7t °
FMENETEAREESRASERBOFHEN
BRI BREN AR EEREH M HHER
A BEEP B KIGINATE -

HZE2022F12A31AIEFE AEEBB 28 L
HERERBRKEEREZFREI1SEZEFRR
1633 1E 2% 6.8% = 8,685 [ Z#4 - (EEFIBIH =
F [A] HA 49 12,847,000% 7T 1% 50 £71,006,000 4 7T 3k
7.8% & #713,853,000/8 7T c EF LM E B HNE
FEERERSNFHEERSEEFH IR LA -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets out the breakdown of revenue and TEUs by

segment for the year:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

EEENWR DT

TREINFAZD MR MR ERKEEDHN ¢

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEFEE

2022 2021

Gross
profit Gross profit
HK$°000 TEUs margin  HK$'000 TEUs margin
FET EER EFIZE FA&T EAERE ER =
% %
Fujian routes REMAR 93,044 63,700 28.7 61,409 42,016 14.7
Guangxi routes B4R 277,696 170,419 14.0 214,961 167,879 20.5
Guangdong routes EREMAR 107,215 202,141 16.9 78,280 176,744 12.6
Hainan routes AR 88,045 46,104 7.2 56,040 33,922 10.3

Sea freight forwarding BLEEE

agency services RE R 89,518 8,685 15.5 78,274 9,318 16.4
655,518 491,049 15.8 488,964 429,879 16.7

The Group’s operational costs amounted to approximately
HK$551,708,000 representing an increase of approximately
HK$144,477,000 or 35.5% as compared with the same period last
year. The change in operational costs was mainly due to: (i) the increase
in shipping volume of feeder shipping services, carrier owned container
services and barge services; (ii) the increase in unit price of bunker
charges as compared to the corresponding period of last year; and
(i) the increase in average unit cost of sea freight forwarding agency
services.

The Group’s other income amounted to approximately HK$11,859,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$7,898,000 as compared
to the same period last year. The change in other income was mainly
due to the net effect of (i) the decrease in the government grants for
the reporting period; (i) the net loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for the reporting period; (jii) the receipt of
government subsidies from the Employee Support Scheme under the
Anti-epidemic Fund for the reporting period; and (iv) the net exchange
gain for the reporting period.

N5 B Y 45 2 K AN & 49551,708,000 8 JT 0 B R R
5] HA 4% hn 49 144,477,000 7% 7T 5 35.5% © 4% & K A
BEEB AN MRS - FEABBARE
MEMRGEESEIN : (VBB EMBERESF
EEIAE AT Ki)yg L EERERGFHEN
BRI INFTEL -

RERE 2 E A R4A11,859,0008 7T * BEFR
HI N F%#497,898,000/8 7T - AU A ZE)E B JI i
RIATEERFZE © () RS HABFHBIR D : (i)
BEMAR D FEFABENUNBEEEBEBRFHE
(i) ¥ = AR WP R R E R TR 52
B RERE ¢ R (iv) 3R HA P O 3 W e 3 3R -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

There are signs of a global economic slowdown, the overall shipping
rates have been decreasing since the second half of 2022. Although
the Chinese economy recovers and the salaries of shipowners’ crew
members and vessel rental expenses are expecting to gradually
decrease, the escalating tensions between China and the US brought
uncertainty to the global trade market and fierce price competition
among the regional shipping carriers, therefore, the Group is facing a
number of challenges in 2023.

Over our long history in the waterborne trade market, although we
experienced several economic cycles and industry storms, we were
able to thrive to expand our shipping network by capitalising market
opportunities. In order to maximise and safeguard the interest of the
shareholders of the Company, the Group has planned ahead for the
upcoming challenges and set our investment strategies cautiously.

Extend the reach of routes

The Group is headquartered in Hong Kong and has grown to become
a regional shipping carrier with points of operation in Hong Kong, Fujian
Province, Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
and Hainan Province. To broaden the customer base and diversify the
operating risk, the Group has been continuously exploring possible
extension of routes in new ports located in the southern China. The
Group will also continue to seek opportunities in new ports and strive to
diversify the source of income.

The Group will continue to maintain strong relationship with customers,
compete with competitors with high-quality service, effectively manage
the vessel fleet and containers in order to maximise the reliability and
flexibility of services, and take all possible measures to enhance the
cost efficiency.

Increase the vessel fleet capacity of the Group

In order to increase the vessel fleet capacity of the Group so as to
enable the Group to satisfy any increase in customers’ demand of the
feeder shipping services and reduce the costs of the Group in relation
to the provision of feeder shipping services, the Group entered into
a vessel transfer agreement with a vendor to acquire a vessel at the
purchase price of RMB7,800,000 on 1 July 2022.

As at the date of this report, the Group had five feeder vessels, two
barges and more than 1,000 containers.

With the continuous efforts of the Group, the Group will continue to
strive towards bringing returns to its shareholders in the long term.

BEEENWR DN

A=

EHREELBRBRNR - B2022F T+ FHEESR
BERY BETHRLEEE MINMEFIR
mMMEERXAREL R  BAFHEANTT
A REHESMEERTHABEE LR
BEBBEF AR B AN KB RN 2023 F @ H &
BHkE -

BRPEXKBRESTHECAEZFESL  ZHEKELE
BEHRTRERR  BBETKDICEMSHERR
HPOMERG - BT ENRIT RRERRBRR
et - ANEREE BIE 8B SRR A PRE L R
TE R E R o

#iE R 1 4%

AEBERBRNEL  LERAMEMELR K
T8 RIEE ERE EOARELRENLERE
BREZEEEH REREPEREIBREER
- AEE-ERBERTERMGHMNEBEEZER
WERHEAZAITE ARENSEENNEONS
KB - ML WARIRZ T

AEERBEBRTFPHETIBE  USEERRHE
HEFBRF  WEBCEEMBK REERM - e
EREHAIEEREEN - ARKIR— AT 5
HERA Y

BEAEEORHERRE
BRESAEENMBEATSE  FAEEENREE
FHIYHBMBRENTEREMERDAEEBFRBIR
MAEE T HEMRBEARA - R2022F7H18 -
AEBE-FZE AR UMMEERZ  UWESEEA
R ¥ 7,800,000 7T Yz B — A€ fu A o

RAREBE  AEEBEE ARG  MEEM
N HBiB 1,000 A EEFE -

EARENTRENT AEBEEREN = HEE
BHRBERERE R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2022, the Group held bank balances
and cash of approximately HK$147,991,000 (2021: approximately
HK$123,821,000). The Group had a mortgage loan of approximately
HK$20,416,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$21,417,000) and was wholly repayable over five years. The
Group had a term loan of approximately HK$26,430,000 (2021:
HK$27,516,000) and was wholly repayable over five years. Also, the
Group had other bank borrowings of approximately HK$17,738,000 as
at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately HK$20,729,000) and were
wholly repayable within one year since inception. The range of effective
interest rates on the borrowings was 2.1% to 7.1% (2021: 1.4% to
2.2%) per annum. All bank borrowings were made at floating interest
rates. The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022,
calculated based on the total borrowings (including lease liabilities) to
the equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 30.4% (2021:
36.7%).

The Group believes that its cash holding, liquid asset value, future
revenue and available banking facilities will be sufficient to fulfill the
working capital requirements of the Group.

There had been no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022. The capital of the
Company comprises the shares and other reserves.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

EEENWR DT

EEhEH  MRERRELXER

AEB—RURNBEEZREGRELEETEEE
FRBITIRENBRITREEERTEEERTE
© o R2022F 12 A31 B REBEARITESH K
IR & #9147,991,000% 7T (2021 4F : 49123,821,000
HBIT) c AEBNR2022FE 12 A BAE— SR BE
K 4920,416,00078 7T (20214 : #121,417,000 78
L) ERAFULEBHEE - AEBE —£4
26,430,000 7% 7T (20214 : 27,516,0007%8 ) A /E
HEN  ARAEF EBEEE - i AEER
2022412 A 31 B B E A iR1T 18 549 17,738,000 %
JC (2021 4F : 4920,729,000/8 7T) » /BB ML
—FAZHEE BXNEBRFNENF21%E
71% (20214 1 1.4% & 2.2%) ° FrARITEZREIE
FENFIERET B c RITERNRMBENAABTTAER o
R2022F12 A1 A AEBERNEZA B RIZE
BEE(BRHEERE) AR AEE ARLERL
BlEtE 530.4% (2021 4F : 36.7%) °

AEBEREMBANRES RBEEBE KRR
aRABARTREBAESEABNARENE

BESHFE -

HE2022F 12 A HIEFE AR EREGE
WEAERNES - RQFRABIERD M EMRE
1o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial and surplus funds
management approach towards its treasury policies and thus
maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31
December 2022. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that sufficient financial
resources are available in order to meet its funding requirements and
commitment timely.

Hedging and exchange rate exposure

The majority of the transactions, assets and liabilities of the Group
was made in HK$, Renminbi and US dollars. During the year ended
31 December 2022, no financial instruments were used for hedging
purposes, and the Group did not commit to any financial instruments
to hedge its exposure to exchange rate risk, as the expected exchange
rate risk is not significant. The Directors and senior management will
continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure and will consider
applicable derivatives when necessary. The Group did not have any
derivatives for hedging against the foreign exchange rate risk as at 31
December 2022.

Charge on group assets

As at 31 December 2022, leasehold land and building amounting to
approximately HK$66,458,000 (2021: approximately HK$69,168,000),
investment properties amounting to approximately HK$61,356,000
(2021: HK$63,946,000), trade receivables amounting to approximately
HK$5,738,000 (2021: approximately HK$6,729,000) in connection
with invoice discounting bank loan arrangements and bank deposits
amounting to approximately HK$811,000 (2021: approximately
HK$662,000) were pledged as security for bank facilities.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no contingent liabilities.

BEEENWR DN

B BUBUR

AEEEREMHRERENFEENNBELRARE
B WHREZE2022F 12 A1 B IEFER—H
HREEORBDESKIL AEEEBRBEHREP
MR ETEERR RS BUOREEER
e AEERDECRR  EFQRYERASH
HRBESRN  UWRREZZHBERAERNE
BoHFEVRRBITAIAERME-

R E R E

REBABAIRG  EERABHUETL AR
MR ETTEHE - REIE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Dividend Policy

The declaration and payment of shareholder dividends and the amount
thereof are at the discretion of the Board and depend upon various
factors, including the results of operations, financial condition and
future prospects of the Company and taking into account regulatory
restrictions on the payment of shareholder dividends, as well as any
other factors deemed relevant by the Board. The dividend policy shall
be reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if
amendments are required.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT

The details of our Group’s property held for investment as at 31
December 2022 are set out below:

Address

28/F., Excel Centre,
483A Castle Peak Road,
Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Lease term
Long term

Existing use
Office

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have
any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Apart from those disclosed in this report, there were no material
investments or additions of capital assets authorised by the Board at
the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, collectively
with its subsidiaries as the “Group”) strives continuously to incorporate
sustainability initiatives into our daily business operations and
management. While sharing the vision of becoming the preferred
choice of our stakeholders and customers, the Group is committed to
improving our Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) performance
by upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting our
ecosystem, engaging the community and promoting social integration.

This is the seventh ESG report (the “Report” or the “ESG Report”)
prepared by the Group. This ESG Report aims to continuously review
our key performances regarding sustainability and outline our milestones
on our sustainability journey during the year ended 31 December 2022.
Our reporting boundary is limited to our business operations in Hong
Kong and The People’s Republic of China ( “PRC”) unless otherwise
specified. The Group strictly adheres to the principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency to report on the relevant
measures and performances in the preparation of the ESG Report.

RE dHE8REREKRE

BRARE

KESEZEBEAERAB(ARE]  ZREWNBER
AGHEIASE]) THB IR A BRHEERERE
RINABMAT R RNEE - REEBALREKS
FONEREFPHNEE  BRABRNEEERRIFNED
XERRE RELRRE HEZSLEREERA
g EARAERE HERERTENKRE -

ABEBAEBRENBELMHIRE LT RERRK
HE((REIKIRE LS RERRE]D - ADIR
B e kERAREEEFERNRMEURER
BATEMEERIA - DA RB@ MR E ZE2022F
AL FERNEAFELRIIELNER -
BEBEEEIN  BMRENBEERBEMRES
KpZEARLMBE ((FEDMOEBLEE -BER
B e REARE I IE SRAAREHE b S A KRS - AR
SEBRETERN 2/t - FEH R BEAAER -

To identify the material ESG issues to the Group, we conducted stakeholder engagement to

RBEMNHAKEMEEENRRE HENEAREE  HACETHOESEERM R

Quantitative metrics are disclosed in this Report to keep track of and evaluate our ESG
performance. We measure and report key performance indicators (KPIs) across our
environmental and social performance with the aid of a data monitoring system. Through the
reporting of these KPIs and information in this Report, we disclose elements that have the
greatest impact to our business and stakeholders. In addition, we disclose historical data,
including those from the base year of 2021, to compare our performance and present our

AHEWRBECBE - BULEMFHRMANRE - He8 REAERE - RANABERE
ARG ERERRMANREMMESEMNARELIER - EBEAREPERZS
WA EE 52

This Report provides an unbiased disclosure on the Group’s ESG performance by
RREEHFTARE  HEREGHEIEM RS - M MEHh2RAEERNIRE -
This Report is prepared according to the ESG Reporting Guide issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) to provide consistent and comparable

disclosures. We would provide explanation to any changes to the calculation methods or
KPIs used, if any. In addition, we disclose historical data, including those from the base year

Reporting Principles Application
BE R R FE A
Materiality
identify and prioritise material ESG issues in our business operations.
BEM
JIXBEETNEERE HEREREFH
Quantitative
progress over time.
21t
PRGBS R REN  RABRBUXHREHERESROEE - 1IN
HE - 2021 EEFHNER  UEBRAEMAORER2HREMOEE -
Balance
highlighting both the achievements and challenges on ESG management.
¥
HERERRHE -
Consistency
of 2021, to compare our performance and present our progress over time.
— Bt

AHEBREBHAIZAARAR ([P TIENRE L@ MERREESIM
wmE RE-BLAELENREEN - Wit B ZAMERNEREREEEE - &
PIRGIR L AR B o S MR BEELBUR - BHE2021 EEFNER  UEBRBE MWK
AREHBEPNEE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

This Report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set
out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
under Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the SEHK (the “Listing Rules”). The Board has reviewed, comprehended
and confirmed the disclosure contents of this Report in its annual Board
Meeting. We value your feedback regarding the review and our overall
sustainability practices. Please provide your comments by email to
ir@xhsl.com.hk.

The subsidiaries of the Group in scope are:

Ever Harvest Shipping Limited

° Xiamen Harvest Shipping Limited

° Millions Good Limited

° Ever Harvest International Logistics (Shenzhen) Limited

° Shenzhen Ever Harvest Logistics Co., Limited

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible business, we have the responsibility to build a thriving
future where we can create long-term value for our stakeholders. The
stakeholders of the Group include shareholders, investors, customers,
employees, business partners, suppliers, regulators, industry
practitioners, charity groups and non-governmental parties etc.

To understand the full spectrum of ESG aspects that the Group’s
operation covers, the Group has made reference to the ESG Reporting
Guide issued by the SEHK to identify the potential environmental and
social impacts of its operation. The Group engaged in active two-
way dialogues with both internal and external stakeholders through
meetings, interviews, direct mails and staff performance appraisal
interviews. 50% of our external stakeholders and 50% of our internal
stakeholders had responded to our survey. The results showed no
change on the sustainability issues that the Group used to disclose in
previous reports. The top material issues in the materiality assessment
are: emissions, use of resources, environmental and natural resources,
climate change, employment, health and safety, development and
training, labour standards, supply chain management, product
responsibility and anti-corruption.

REPORTING METHODOLOGY

For the following environmental and social data, the abovementioned
operations of the Group in scope are all included.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD INVOLVEMENT AND GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for overseeing the long-term sustainable
development of all operating companies under the Group. Information
and management on sustainability risks and performance is reported
to the Board. The working group meet regularly to exchange
information and best practices, with a view to developing specific policy
recommendations, improving efficiency, managing climate-related risks,
reducing costs, engaging staff in sustainable development, and review
environmental and social targets and progress.

The working group is delegated responsibility by the Board for
executing our corporate sustainability strategy and initiatives. In turn,
the direct reports in the Company have functional responsibility for
carrying out sustainable business practice in specific areas, collecting
and monitoring of ESG related data.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company complied
with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Please refer to the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” for more information.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

We are committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which we operate. The Group is dedicated to
meeting the needs of the present without compromising those of the
future. To our best knowledge, we have complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding environmental issues in the regions where we
have business operations during the reporting year. In particular, our
operation in the PRC strictly complied with the environmental laws and
regulations including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China” and “Implementation Plan of the
Ship Discharge Control Zones in the Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River
Delta, and Bohai Rim (Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei) Waters”. The Company
expects high level of discipline from our employees and vendors to take
responsibility for their actions. We are not aware of any non-compliance
associated with any of our Group’s companies and/or employees with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group during the reporting year.

The Group is committed to creating green offices and has actively
implemented electricity savings, emission reduction and recycling
initiatives. During the reporting year, we measured and managed
our environmental performance in several aspects throughout our
operations. Our environmental philosophy is centred on our commitment
to being a responsible company at the forefront of environmental efforts
within the shipping industry.
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Milestone in achieving environmental targets by 2030

Due to an increase in total shipment volume of 14.7% (61,803 twenty-
foot equivalent units (the “TEUS”)) in 2022 compared to 2021, the overall
operations and administrations were expanded and consequentially,

A R 24 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

RE dekERRE

R2030FAIEZERREEENEREE

7 2022 4F 48 2 48 2 #2021 hn14.7% (61,803
=+ RZ R (MREFE])) BRELERITER
BIER - B )M R AR S EE R

gas oil consumption and paper consumption were increased and  HrWBEEFT FF o
hence, the total GHG emissions were increased.

2021 2022 By 2030

2030 F Al

GHG Emissions (tCO,e) BERBEM (St 2 20,588.98 23,651.21 <19,559.53
Electricity Consumption (kWh) TEFE (TR 193,424.90 186,344.92 < 183,753.66
Gas Oil Consumption (tonnes) YUH B FE (WE) 5,840.52* 6,715.55 < 5,548.50
Paper Consumption (tonnes) #R R OE A (1) 3.13 3.75 <2.97
Air Emissions & R BE K

Air pollution has become one of the major critical problems in the
world. We reckon that every company should take its responsibility
to tackle this problem. To mitigate air pollution, we have been taking
considerable measures to control our air emissions. As a waterborne
trade and freight service provider, our air emissions mainly originate
from the consumption of gas oil by our vessel fleets.

The Group has taken measures to minimise adverse environmental
consequences during our business operation, which include but are not
limited to the followings:

— We and our vessel operators use our best efforts to avoid
prolonged use of gas & oil fuel consuming systems and we switch
on the gas & oil fuel consuming systems only when needed.

—  We have fuel saving measures in place which are supported
by our management and are monitored daily. We consider the
shortest routing and maximise utilisation rate of vessels in each
route as possible.

—  We conduct regular maintenance and cleaning of vessels in order
to improve engine performance.

Our air emissions data are as follows:

ZERFRAECKBERBA RN E P —(EE EH
B RPRRERAEARAESERARNELE - R
S = RER SR R REUA B R
BERBEN - ER/KEE 5 MEERGHER - M
M BE RPN E EIR B i BOBRE U

AEBECRDEREEREREEBRTHREM
ERNAETE  BRETRVATEER:

- BMAEEMEEESE B LREREERN
REMMEG  EERFERD SRBN A

—  HME®EESOMA R ]IEE
ERBVHRETER - HME
MAFE B E MM E
%TO

I [Z Fff
BE B BIE
=N kﬂ%’i’ﬁﬁ’\]ﬂ

- BEMecHYEnE
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EITHERBR  ARE

AT ERBERBIRN T -

Air Emissions BER B Unit {7 2021 2022
Total NOx Emissions ABCHBEENE tonnes M 525.65" 604.40
Total SOx Emissions mE L MaBENE tonnes M 309.55* 355.92
Total PM Emissions BRI BB E tonnes Mg 42.52* 48.89
Remark: it -

The values of all 3 types of Air Emissions in year 2021 are rectified due to the rectified ~ * 2021 F /M ERRBED ELEIE - K 2021 F 250

value for Gas Oil Consumption in year 2021.

B BERFRMEEC EHEEELE



EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ it A b 23w
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 f#

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions and Energy
Conservation

The impact of global climate change is a challenge that businesses and
organisations around the world must face and address. The Group is
committed to minimising the adverse impact that its operations may
have on the environment. Using energy efficiently will help us conserve
resources and tackle climate change.

The Group is fully committed to reducing emissions from our vessels
by reducing fuel consumption. We have set the emission reduction
target as reducing total GHG emissions by 5% by 2030 compared to
2021; and energy use efficiency target as reducing electricity and gas
oil consumption by 5% by 2030 compared to 2021. To reduce our
carbon footprint and energy usage to achieve the targets, we have
implemented the following measures:

—  QOur vessels are inspected and repaired according to maintenance
schedules in compliance with relevant laws and regulations in the
regions we operate.

— We have installed energy-efficient equipment and lighting
devices in our offices, which are turned on only when in use and
are turned off after use. Light zoning has been set up, and we
encourage our staff to switch off its individual light before leaving
for a long time.

—  We encourage our staff to turn off electric appliances when they
are not in use.

The disclosed data of 2022 fuel consumption and GHG emissions
were based on the owned and rented vessels using our purchased
fuel and office operations. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
we consumed 6,715.55 tonnes of gas oil and 186,344.92 kWh of
electricity. Consumption of gas oil in our vessels is our major source
of GHG emissions. The following tables show our GHG emissions and
energy consumption:

Total Greenhouse
Gas Emissions

mE RPN

RE dekERERE
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AEE2EBBREREDERE - e 88 PR
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%z 69 B 1R A1 2030 6 2 AT £ E H MR IR
i FRE 8 82021 IR A 5% © R IR B K AL IR E
FERIBE  RASEERT NIEE :
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Total Scope 2 Emissions
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Total Scope 3 Emissions
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HE

GHG Emissions' BEREHR Unit E{z 2021 2022
Total Scope 1 Emissions HE1HEREE tCOe WA —E /LR E 2 20,449.812 23,513.62
Total Scope 2 Emissions SE2HREE tCOe M — Lk & 2 124.17 119.59
Total Scope 2 Emissions/Employee  #E2BEEE, BB tCOe/employee 0.63 0.59
ZetIEEEE
Total Scope 3 Emissions E| 3HEARE tCOe WA —E /LR E 2 15.00 18.00
Total GHG Emissions Zﬁ;ﬁm BeE = tCOse WA —F bl & 2 20,588.98° 23,651.21
Total GHG Emissions/Employee BEREHENEE RBE tCOQe/emponee 103.98¢ 116.51
—aixEE EE
Energy Consumption FERE Unit E{u 2021 2022
Gas Oil Consumption FURE RE tonnes 1 5,840.525 6,715.55
Electricity Consumption BERAE kWh F FL B 193,424.90 186,344.92
Electricity Consumption/Employee BERE BB KWh/employee 976.89 917.96
FEE RBE

Remark:

it

GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent and was based
on the information of the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development, the “Government emission conversion factors for
greenhouse gas company reporting” issued by the Department for Environment,
Food & Rural Affairs in the UK, the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or
Institutional Purposes)” issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
(EMSD) and the Environmental Protection Department (EPD) in Hong Kong and “How
to Prepare an ESG Report, Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the SEHK.

The value for Total Scope 1 Emissions in year 2021 are rectified due to the rectified

value of Gas Qil Consumption in year 2021.

The value for Total GHG Emissions in year 2021 are rectified due to the rectified
value for Total Scope 1 Emissions in year 2021.

The value for Total GHG Emissions/Employee in year 2021 are rectified due to the
rectified value for Total Scope 1 Emissions in year 2021.

The value for Gas Oil Consumption in year 2021 are rectified — this rectified value
refers to the pure gas oil consumption of the Group’s fleet operations.

1

BERBERBBUA—SLLREERT  LREHR
& & #t 35 FT &2 World Business Council for Sustainable
Development (tt A A HEHETHESS) HEMNCAER
BERESHRTE  CELFHEBEIERE) - & E Department
for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs GR3E & @ & 2
#B) %% #5 #9 Government emission conversion factors for
greenhouse gas company reporting ((ZRE R & 363] © BT
BERBERIREIES)) BAKELIRERERETE
W(EBREY (BE TERAHAR) NBEERBHK
FOR R )% AR E 4 51) KBk A2 8 R e Canfe] 2 4
RIE MG REARE PSR RIEBREEZER
)R ERHRE -

72021 FJUREFEEE R E S IE - MR 2021 S § [
1 PR B NBERFHARELE -

2021 FHE B ENEBEEELEE - #72021
BERBEREENHECDELBEIESE -

72021 FHEA A EMNEEEELEE - #2021
FRERRINEE EENHEDFHEREE

B 2021 FTREFRBED FHIEE — e EBERA
SEMBETHLLTUBFE -
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Waste Management and Reduction

We work diligently in reducing our waste produced from operations
by sorting of waste, and to reuse materials wherever possible. We
recognise the importance of waste reduction and waste separation
at source for recycling. We have put continuous efforts to implement
various waste management initiatives in our office operations.

Our non-hazardous waste reduction target is reducing paper
consumption by 5% by 2030 compared to 2021. We reduce paper
consumption by using electronic means (e.g. email) for communication
with at least 90% of staff members having email access. We have
changed our office paper to those with at least 50% recycled content.
We print only when necessary and reuse single-sided printed paper and
stationeries.

Apart from the resources management measures as described above,
no significant amount of hazardous waste was produced and emitted
to water and land. Therefore, the Group does not collect the data of

RE dHE8REREKRE

B2 B TR R R
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BEEBERVEE BEEREVMIZRAVERNDH

hazardous waste. The major type of non-hazardous waste is material (204K RAH)) - TRERBFIEBLEENES
consumption, such as paper and toner. The following table shows the — JEFEHF :

figures of material consumption in our business operations:

Material Consumption SHEM R Unit E {7 2021 2022
Paper Consumption FA#& tonnes WA 3.13 3.75
Toner Consumption M EREE pieces & 27.47 27.17

21
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Natural Resources and Environment

As a freight forwarder, while benefiting from the aquatic environment
and resources, we should bear the responsibilities and fulfil the
obligations of protecting them and making appropriate use. We have
made considerable efforts to minimise the impact caused by our
business operations on our natural environment. A healthy aquatic
environment is the basis for the sustainable development of the shipping
industry.

The Group recognises that businesses must take responsibility for their
industry’s effects on the environment. We are dedicated to preventing
oil spillage and protecting aquatic habitat to help deliver sustainable
value chains. We encourage sustainable economic development
through innovative environmental protection measures. Related policies
and protocols are implemented during the operation of our fleets.

We are committed to applying industry best practices and complying
with legislation, establishing and reviewing health and safety, security
and environment objectives and targets, using energy and materials
efficiently, reducing waste and emissions and communicating our
environmental protection policies to all staff. A monitoring team has
been established to ensure that these practices are effectively executed.
Through these measures, the negative impact of our operation on the
environment has been minimised.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related issues. Therefore, the Company
is committed to managing the potential climate-related risks which may
impact the Company’s business activities. The Board meets annually
and cooperates closely with key management to identify and evaluate
climate-related risks and to formulate strategies to manage the identified
risks.

The potential financial impacts brought by climate change are mainly
derived from two major types of risks: physical risks and transition
risks. The Group has identified risks that have potential impacts on our
business, among which, acute physical risk is the increased severity
of extreme weather events such as intensified floods and typhoons,
leading to delay of shipping service, supply chain interruption as well
as negative impacts on the health and safety of our staff; while chronic
physical risk is the rising sea levels, posing threat to the ports along
the coastlines which are the major locations of our operation. The
Group has established emergency policy and procedures against
flooding events and extreme weather conditions in order to protect our
employees and minimise asset loss. The Group will continuously review
the potential impact of climate change on our business annually and
implement corresponding measures to reduce any potential risks.
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For transition risks, the working group identified the 2 major risks and
their potential financial impact. Transition risk mitigation and resilience
are under prudent discussion in view of the volatile social and political
environment.

Transition risk type

HAEREE

Risk/Opportunity Driver
R HIBEE AR

RE dHE8REREKRE

HRERRERRME  TEASHMN2EIZRARLE
BERHZE ENTERBOARETE  EpE
B B AT 4R MBI R E TR E R -

Potential financial impact

BEMBRE

Policy and legal
B K% EHRR B R TR B A
Market preference & technology

and technology

M E T REH B ANER A AR E R B R

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

We recognise the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and risk of non-compliance with the laws and regulations
regarding social issues. We have complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022. In
Hong Kong, we have complied with all applicable rules and regulations
such as the “Sex Discrimination Ordinance”, the “Race Discrimination
Ordinance”, the “Disability Discrimination Ordinance” and the “Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance” etc. In the PRC, we have complied
with applicable employment regulations, for example, “Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and the “Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China” etc. The Board is not aware of any non-
compliance associated with any of our Group’s companies and/or
employees with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group during the reporting year.

Employment and Labour Practices

As key enablers in achieving the economic, environmental and social
objectives of the Group, our staff is among our most valuable assets.
We believe that creating a workplace that offers a strong sense of
belonging would inspire our employees to uphold our core values. We
strive to create an environment where every employee can develop to
their full potential and work happily, making us to be the employer of
choice.

Carbon levy on fuel/Carbon price

Increasing adoption of green fuel

Increased expenditure

EER

Increased capital investment in green fuel
and technologies

BB R E AR EIE N

HEFHEHHRR
BMEAMEESEHETEERATHEZN - UK
NEFARBEED KRB E E R o 720224 12 H 31
ALFE BMHEETHAEEEBLEERS
FENBBRET LR - EBE  BME &
BEBRBERG - 0B AR ) - (ERR IR
BRAEDY ~ IR AR 501 B (SR BE & or AR 651D
LB BRMITDETHANEERG - 0
(PEARKMBLEE) R(PEAREME S
AERF)E -EEGUTHNBAEEETEH AR
/EERBREFERNERBEEEREEMY
REFBEREAZENBNR -

EBIREK % TEHM

AEENBTREMERLE  REMTEEEN
TENE REMSEEMNEE - BHMABERGFAIE—
AEREEABRABRBRNTERREAINEREREA

ERPIWEOEE - RABHEE— @A EEE R
HEFENRBRIENRE KREEIZE -
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The employees of the Group are one of our key stakeholders. We
provide decent working environment including a workplace free from
discrimination and harassment; and provide equal opportunities for
all employees along with competitive remuneration. The Group has
formulated remunerations and benefits in strict compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. Our remuneration and benefits include
allowances, holidays and pensions. Discretionary bonus scheme is in
place to reward the employees with outstanding performance. We also
provide paid wedding leave, causal leave and compassionate leave in
addition to those stipulated under the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong. Effective recruitment is the key to having the people with the right
expertise and qualifications in the right jobs. Diversity and equality of
opportunity are the keys of the process. The right person with relevant
skills for the job would be hired regardless of his/her race, family status,
gender, disability, religion or age.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 203 staff in total.

Workforce statistics by gender, employment type, employment
category, age group and geographical region are as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

RE dekERRE

AEBEREARMET —FEEERNE - BHFIARE
BRERMNTIERE  BRETHFEBREEEN
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RHUAFHER BEETREBME KSEEEER
EREBEMAT DEERBREAL - BRERA R
BEEF  EPLUAZTERFERERE - 1M
BB AR MERRD - MASE MAmEE -
KEEAM ~ MR~ BRIK - REEFR -

R2022%F12 A31H » "EEAHKEMR203%ES -

RIER - ZEEE - ZEAR - FheMAERI MR
B OMEB HGABTFOT

Staff Number
ET#H
Hong Kong BB 38
Mainland China B A 3, 165
Breakdown by gender ZIERE 5
Employees — Female BE—ZM% 149
Employees — Male EE—5M1 54
Breakdown by age group LEBRAARIE S
Employees Age < 30 1B B F#e < 30 41
Employees Age 30-50 & 8 F # 30-50 140
Employees Age > 50 BEF#:>50 22
Breakdown by employment type BXEERNE D
Employees — Full-time EE—28 202
Employees — Part-time EE—FE 1
Breakdown by employment category B2 EARE D
Employees — Senior BE—=& 9
Employees — Middle Level EE— 47
Employees — Supervisory Level EE-E%E 64
Employees — General BE——M&% 83
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Statistics of employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region are as follows:

RE dHE8REREKRE

RIER  FEARI IR E S D KRB MK X
BETBFMT

%
Turnover Rate by gender T RIE S B R b =
Employees — Female =3=Eelid 12.75
Employees — Male EE—5M 7.41
Turnover Rate by age group LREBRARIE DR AL R
Employees Age < 30 1B B F#k < 30 34.15
Employees Age 30-50 & B F ik 30-50 5.71
Employees Age > 50 1B B F# > 50 4.55
Turnover Rate by geographical region RIMIB AL E B KT K H K
Hong Kong A 2.63
Mainland China Hh [ A 3, 13.33

Health and Safety

Ensuring the health and safety of our employees is one of our prime
responsibilities. We strive to provide our employees with a safe working
environment and reinforce their safety awareness by sharing safety
information, under the requirement of Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance and the Workplace Safety Law of PRC.

Our employees’ health and safety have always been on the top of the
agenda. The Group endeavours to provide a safe and healthy work
environment for employees to protect them from work-related accidents
or injuries. Fire drills are carried out on a regular basis and email
reminders are prepared periodically to ensure corridors and pantries
are clean and tidy. Zero accident was reported during the year ended
31 December 2022, and the Group had no work-related fatalities in the
past 3 years (year 2020, 2021 and 2022).

The following table shows our health and safety statistics during the
reporting year:

BERZZE

EREERELZERRMNEZETZ— - M
REBEBERZ 2 REFEERD) R(PFBERZ2EEZX)
MREFNREERFLZE2NTHERERE  WEBD
FREPEMMABBRENLZEETH

BEMNBELALZZ2 BERRMSEEMNZE - AE
BN AREBRELZERERNIERE  BHeH
SRETEHBNEINIREE - RMTHBITAE
RE o We TR HEERN  BRBERIKE
BEREE - REE2022F12 A3 BILFE » &K
N\ B BN RS - MAEBERBE=F (2020
F 2021 F K 2022 F) WHERET M ER -

TRETHRMANREFEANRE R L 20T

Health and Safety BRERZZE Unit {7

No. of Work-related Fataliies — Employees TL{EEMETHF—EE Number A £t 0
Rate of Work-related Fatalities TYEERESE T X % 0
Lost Days due to Work Injury ATEEANBEE Number B &¢ 0
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Development and Training

We continue to improve our human resources strategies to attract the
best talent in the market. To enable our talents to develop themselves
to their fullest potential and to provide them with the essential skill
sets to deliver the best, a comprehensive development plan has been
established.

The Group provides diversified on-the-job training based on the needs
of respective positions and the talents of employees. We provide
them with all-rounded development opportunities and develop their
potentials in different positions. The Group encourages its employees to
participate in individual continuing education programs which are related
to their job duties. Staff training and development are considered as
investment to our future.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total training hours
of employees were 203 hours. Detailed breakdown of training are as
follows:

Percentage of
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R KIEI

BB REANEREKR - ARATIS ERES
WA - RAERIEZENERE - ERAHDA
ATRBERNER  URERSFHERVENRER
R o B BKCAE o

AEEREBEENBULERERZ TICNER
BFAl e HPIRREFREEZENERE S  WHEER

TEAR AR EEERE - BTHIINBERER
BRERK -

REE2022F 12 A3 HIEFE  EERATIIFE
A 203/ N\ o BREI Z BRARIN T

Average training
hours completed

employees Training hours per employee
trained (hrs) (hrs)
BEEETK
FAlRE Filz FHRE
ZIEERASHL (/NEF) (NEF)
Employment Category ZE4 A
— Senior — 5k 100% 9 1.00
— Middle Level — 100% 47 1.00
— Supervisory Level —BEEE 100% 64 1.00
— General - — 100% 83 1.00
Gender 14 5
— Female — 100% 149 1.00
— Male -5 100% 54 1.00
Labour Standard BIEE

The Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced or compulsory
labour at all its units and suppliers. No employee is made to work
against his/her will or work as forced labour, or subject to corporal
punishment or coercion of any type related to work. Identification check
is conducted during hiring process to ensure the candidate is above
legal working age in different jurisdictions in the regions we operate.

The Group has zero-tolerance to employment of child labour and forced
labour within our supply chain. The Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant rules and regulations on preventing child or
forced labour. The Group has set out its human resources policies
abided by the employment regulations of the jurisdictions where it
operates, including the “Employment Ordinance”, the “Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance” and the “Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance” etc. in Hong Kong. In the PRC, it includes but not limited
to the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

AEER R EMIHEBERET KRB HR
e  MEREREFEERABEMI(E S
88 A TEMAEMIEL M EI B E -
PRBEBREFTRES D - BRERE FREDR
& EMEM TR RDAERFAE TIEFIRAL -

AEEUHHEEEAZEIRRELINTRER
B REEWEEIRAME R LE THREEE
R AR R AR BV E L - REBRI B AN ERK
R HBTRERERVAERNERMRD  BEE
BECRRGED) - (BER 2 REREE) R(RER
MEEIDF mPEANSE (BEARR) (PEA
REMBELEHE) R(PEARKMBESHARDE) ©
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Supply Chain Management

The Group has dedicated to promoting sustainable and responsible
practices. The Business Development Committee is designated to
manage and assess environmental and social risks in every aspect of
business and at every stage of supply chain. Under the vendor and
supplier selection mechanism, potential contractors shall share the
similar environmental vision with the Group. The Group seeks to improve
supplier management awareness and abilities. Annual evaluation is
conducted with our current business partners and suppliers to ensure
measures are effectively executed. We are committed to promoting
sustainable development throughout the supply chain. As the reputation
of the Group and the quality of services are extremely important, the
Group emphasises that purchases shall only be made from suppliers
which have gone through the Group’s internal selection process.

Environmentally sound supply chain management is an opportunity to
reduce carbon footprint and costs. The Group places high importance
on purchasing eco-friendly materials for daily operations, supporting
suppliers that are committed to sustainable forestry management
and prioritising local suppliers so as to minimise air pollution from
transportation.

During the reporting year, the geographical distribution of the Group’s
suppliers is as follows:

RE dHE8REREKRE

HEHEEE

AEEBNREAHEEATEINME - AEEE
ERFEBERZEGEELFGEEEELIAR
HEHERERNRREIEERR - KIEET IH
FEREERS  EREHARAKENRRES —
H-AKEENRERHERNEEEZRNESD - K
PMEFRRBEEBRH REREETH G BRZ
FHRBSIBERET - RPN ERIEE A £
BERR BRAKEZBELRRBEZBARAER
it AN EERFERBENREANRTE BN
HEEERE -

R 8 IR IR 0 (M 2 TR R ORI A Bk R R K% B R AR
Mige  AKEIERAFZEBERRYH X
RBORAHEREERNHER  LELEERER
W ER - LR ERELEMNZERITH

RBEFE - HEFBRSMHIT

Number of
suppliers
HEEHE

Geographical Region =
— Hong Kong —&B 110
— Mainland China — B A 287

Commitment to Service Responsibility

The Group is committed to honesty, integrity and fairness in its
business operations. It supports fair trade and operation practices
and ensure all marketing and communications materials are updated
and in compliance with government regulations in the regions where it
operates. The Group adheres to the principles set out in the industry
best practices, which outlines high standards of health and safety in
workplace to avoid any associated risks to the Company’s business
activities. During the reporting year, we did not receive any service-
related complaints.

R %5 B4 B AR
AEBENIREBKZEPEREH CTEMAF -
BAXBAFESREEED  WHERMEERER
B R R A S E T R E e BT AR
7 e AEBEEITREEEGAEARA - E 55
THESANSERRELZE2RE - UBNEBARRE
BRSO EMERRR - RIREFE - HAALEER
AR B AR A B B R AE AR R AR R -
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The Group respects and values the management of intellectual
property rights. We assure that the Company’s business and customer
information are well protected with no misappropriation and are in line
with our operation guideline as well as industry best practice. We aim to
ensure high quality standards for our service provided. We constantly
communicate with our customers to ensure our service level is up to
standards. Communication and feedback channels have been set up
for quality assurance and recall procedures.

In our daily operations in Hong Kong, personal data from the
stakeholders of the Company is collected for different purposes.
Personal data is collected only for lawful and relevant purposes and in
accordance with “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of Hong Kong.
We ensure that personal and business information of our stakeholders
is used in the proper context and exclusively for authorised business
purpose, being accessible to our staff on a “need-to-know” basis. In the
PRC, customer engagement measures are implemented and monitoring
system is implemented for data privacy matters. The Company also
takes steps to upgrade our security features on our computer system to
safeguard the customers’ personal information.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant
law and regulations on health and safety, advertising and privacy matter
related to services provided during the reporting period.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to maintaining high standard of integrity when
doing business as we strongly believe that it is essential to meet the
expectations of our stakeholders. The Group takes a zero-tolerance
approach to bribery and corruption and is committed to doing business
with integrity and in compliance with the laws and regulations in
operating business.

The Group has strictly complied with the “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Anti-monopoly Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, “Law of the People’s Republic of China Against
Unfair Competition”, “the Interim Provisions on Banning Commercial
Bribery”. Whereas in Hong Kong, the Group follows the “Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance” enforced by the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC”).
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The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical pursuits. The
Group has implemented an effective whistle-blowing policy for reporting
fraud and corruption. We encourage the reporting of suspected
business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for this
purpose. When suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach
of duty, abuse of power and bribery, staff should report to the Board of
Directors for investigation and verification, and report to the regulator
and/or to law enforcement authority when necessary. We welcome
anonymous reporting such that any reporting can be done confidentially.
Under this policy, the Group will conduct periodic and systematic fraud
risk assessments, and remedy any deficiencies identified internally and
by the external auditors in a timely manner.

To prevent corruption and malpractices in the workplace, practical
guide, training materials and information pack published by ICAC are
shared with our employees and the Board. In addition, the Group’s
policies, including the anti-fraud policy, conflict of interest policy, and
anti-corruption policy, were drafted based on the guide issued by
ICAC. These policies are shared with both our employees and Directors
periodically. During the year ended 31 December 2022, internal training
on the abovementioned anti-corruption materials was provided for our
employees — the attendance included 100% of Senior Management;
26% of Middle Level Staff; 13% of Supervisory Level Staff; and 11% of
General Staff.

The Group aims to become an enterprise which adheres to a high level
of ethical standards and staff integrity. There were no concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

Community Investment

The Group pursues sustainable development of our community by
assessing and managing the social impact of our operations on the
marketplace and by supporting initiatives that create effective and
lasting benefits to communities in our operating boundaries.

The Group encourages our staff to take part in community welfare and
voluntary work and our Directors actively maintain communication with
non-governmental organisations to understand community needs.
Through participating in corporate responsibility activities, public
welfare education in the community such as environmental protection,
conservation and other positive messages can be promoted.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group donated a total
amount of HK$107,800 to support cultural and social services.
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ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Disclosure,
Aspects, General
Disclosure and KPIs

BE BE —REER Description

BE  HERERESIZARRS

Cross-reference in
this Report/Statement
FREANRIX SR EH

BRENESR A

A. Environmental 3 5

Aspect Atl: Emissions

EBEAT: 23587

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
—-REE laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the

issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

FHBERIAERBHN  RKRTHHET UREEX
BEBREVNEESN  @QBE: RO)ETHETAREKX
TENERERRAOINER -

KPI BRENEEZ The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

Al.1 HERR Y TE KR AR B HE B -

KPI BB R ERIER Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
Al1.2 emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B (EE) ReRAZ (BE2) EEREHNE (UNETE)
R(ER) ZmE (WA EESEN  BERMEHE)

KPI BB R EMIER Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
A1.3 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
MEXBEREMRE UNE) L (ER) ZE (MIAE

BB SRRMHHE) -

KPI BRENEE Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
Al14 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

ELEEREYARE UBEE) L(ER) BE (WA
EBBN BEREAHE)

KPI BB R ERIER Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
A1.5 them.
RPTET IVHEE B IR R AES G L B IRATEREA) AP 58 -

KPI BB R EMIER Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
A1.6 handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HMEREEERESEEMN AL REMPAET LA REER
BRREINELERMRDHTR -

Environmental Performance

RIENEMNKRR

Environmental Performance
— Air Emissions
RIBATEMKIE
—ERHER

Environmental Performance

— Greenhouses Gas Emissions
and Energy Conservation

RIFHHMERR

—REREHEN R

We do not report on this issue as the
Group does not produce significant
amount of hazardous waste.
HRAEETERAEEEETEREREY
WEAFIY LU FEEL RS -

Environmental Performance

- Waste Management and Reduction
REAANKRER

—BYEE LA E

Environmental Performance

— Air Emissions/Greenhouses Gas
Emissions and Energy Conservation

RIFHHNERR

—BEREEWREREHEHRKEE

Environmental Performance

- Waste Management and Reduction
REHHENKRER

— R E 1R R R
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Disclosure,
Aspects, General
Disclosure and KPIs

RE dHE8REREKRE

Cross-reference in

BE - BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BRENMIEE AES FREANRIX SR EH
Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHA2: ERFEA

General Disclosure

—RKE

KPI BB E M5 E
A2.1

KPI BB BB IEE
A22

KPI B BB B E
A2.3

KPI BB & M5 E
A2.4

KPI B BB M IE1E
A25

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BRERER(BHEER - KREAM R ) BBEK -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
REMNESMEER S HEEER (NS - K3oh) 2
HEUUTETESFAE) RBE(WANBEESEN &
AR E) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREKERTE(WMAGESEL §ERBH) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

A FEI VM REANEEERAE LB ERR
PREREY 5K -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

FEatSKEUE AR LA B A A ERE - LRI M A
Kam B ERAEDEL E EATERIA PR o

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.
ERmAABEMHENEE (UEE) X (WER) &
HEBMNGE-

Environmental Performance

RENERRIR

Environmental Performance

— Greenhouses Gas Emissions
and Energy Conservation

RIS EMKE

Nl i

—BE RPN 6L

We did not collect such information as
it is not material to our business. Our
water consumption in office operations
are managed by building management
offices.
BRERMEBILAEKR - BB
BWEBRAER - BRMOBRREHA
KBAREEREER -

Environmental Performance

— Greenhouses Gas Emissions
and Energy Conservation

RIBHEA KRR

—REREHMRE L

We do not report on this issue as

the disclosure is not material to our
business. Our business does not
involve any activity that will consume
significant amount of water.
BREAREERMEBLETEKX
HERMILER L EEEDRE - B
B ST M R A K 2 F7KAEE) o

We do not report on this issue as

the disclosure is not material to our
business. Our business does not
manufacture or sell any physical
product.

MR EERBEURMEBLTEK
MBI Rt Lt FEE R RS - AN
EBVEEESIHETMNERER -
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BE

Cross-reference in

BE BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BRENER RE EHRERNNRISR, BH
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEAS : BERKRER

General Disclosure

—RHWE

KPI BB & M5 Z
A3.1

Aspect A4:
EEA4:

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B EMIEE
AdA

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on
the environment and natural resources.
BIRBITABRERRAEREKNERNZENBR -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

B EBZBHRBERRRERNERNTE KB KR
EREHRTENITE -

Climate Change
R - X(d

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact the issuer

Bl REHEK K& %QE%GAFEWEWEXH
IR E BB BR

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact the issuer
and the actions taken to manage them
MBI g WBETAEEYENEARIZERA
EH MEHTE-

Environmental Performance

RETHEAOKRR

Environmental Performance

— Natural Resources and Environment
BRI HA KRR
—RABRKIRER

Environmental Performance — Climate
Change
BEHENER - RIES(L

Environmental Performance — Climate
Change
IRE A MK RIE - RIERE (L
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RE dHE8REREKRE

Cross-reference in

BE - BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BREENER AES FREANRIX SR EH
B. Social # &

Aspect B1: Employment

[EEB1: EE

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI BB E M5 E
B1.1

KPIERENIEE
B1.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

EHEF W RGRE BERSM LERH RE - F5
g Zrt - IR AR E A8 R ARFIE © (a) BUR
X (o) BFH BT ABEAZEHNERERERADINER

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group
and geographical region.
=MR - EIEER  FRAERIRMEE DHIES LR -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

IR FiRASN BB SNESRKL X -

Social Performance

— Employment and Labour Practices
MHEFEMNKSR

— BB & 5 TEA

Social Performance

— Employment and Labour Practices
HEHENKRER

— BB & 4 TEA

Social Performance

— Employment and Labour Practices
HEHENKE

— 1B 1R &5 TI1E NI
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RE dHE8RERKRE

Cross-reference in

BE BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BREENER AES FREANRIX SR EH
Aspect B2: Health and Safety

E@EB2: RERZE

General Disclosure

—RHWE

KPI BB & M5 Z
B2.1

KPI BB E M5 E
B2.2

KPI BB &I
B2.3

Aspect B3:
EmEB3:

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI BB E M5 E
B3.1

KPI BB E I E
B3.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
FEARHLZ2TERBEIMREEERLBELREEN
@BE: RO BETHETAREATENHEBEEZR
HOIE R o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting year.
BE=F (AEEREE) BFETTROABRLE -

Lost days due to work injury.
ATIEERTERR -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
MU B R R E T 2 U REERITR

BERENE-

Development and Training

R RIE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
FARAREEBITIERE N ME R EEENBUER - 16
MIFEED o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category.
BUEREEERRESNXINEEB DL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

RIER R EB RIS D - BREESTAZ I -

Social Performance
— Health and Safety
MtEFENEKR
—BEERELE

Social Performance
— Health and Safety
MtEFERNEKR
—EEEREE

Social Performance
— Health and Safety
MEFEMNESR
—EEREZE

Social Performance
— Health and Safety
KRR
—EERELE

Social Performance

— Development and Training
rETENRER

— R &IE

Social Performance

— Development and Training
HEHENKRER

— R MIE

Social Performance

— Development and Training
HEHENKE

— R RIE
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RE dHE8REREKRE

Cross-reference in

BE - BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BREENER AES FREANRIX SR EH
Aspect B4: Labour Standards

BEB4 : BITAE|

General Disclosure

—RHWE

KPI BB & M5 E
B4.1

KPI BB E M5 E
B4.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

BB IEETH®EGIS T (@) E: kb ETEHE
TABERZENHEEEELROINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices
to avoid child and forced labour.
it st B ESIEE AR R E T RoAHIS T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.
Hi AR ERIBAR R ARBE AR5 -

Social Performance
— Labour Standard
HEFENKRR

s T 4am Y
— B TiEE

Social Performance
— Labour Standard
ftEHEAER
—BTiZE

Social Performance
— Labour Standard
HtEHEMERR
— B TiZE
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RE dHE8RERKRE

Cross-reference in

BE BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BREENER AES FREANRIX SR EH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

BEBS : HERER

General Disclosure

—RHWE

KPI BB & M5 E
B5.1

KPI BB E M5 E
B5.2

KPI BB &I
B5.3

KPI B & & M5 E
B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.

ERHEENIRE R GRREE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
ZiEE S HEEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HAEEERHEERNED mERTAEBENNH
EREEA  UNBEBERITRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Ul A B R (e B B IR E B IR IR At g R bR 918
Bl ARMEBRITRERTX -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
i 2L P R L P R (5 25 R ER AR o S IR AG V1B A1
ANBRAMITREER A -

Social Performance

— Supply Chain Management
ftEH KR
—fpEEE R

Social Performance

— Supply Chain Management
MEFERNEKSR
—fEEE IR

Social Performance

— Supply Chain Management
HEHENKRER
—fHEEEE

Social Performance

— Supply Chain Management
HEHENKE
—fEEEIE

Social Performance

— Supply Chain Management
MHEFTENKE
—fEEE IR
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RE dHE8REREKRE

Cross-reference in

BE - BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BREENER AES FREANRIX SR EH
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BEB6 : ERER

General Disclosure

—RHWE

KPI BB & M5 Z
B6.1

KPI BB E M5 E
B6.2

KPI BB E I E
B6.3

KPI B & M5 E
B6.4

KPI B &M R
B6.5

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

FHFMREERNRBOREREREZSE ES B8R
FEREEARBRITEDN - @B X Kb)&ET 53T
ABEARZENEBER RO ER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEICEXAERAHTRAL S HE@EEEH M AR
=R A

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
EREENEmSRBORFEE ARBETE

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

T B4 N ARIB AR ERE R R IE DI -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
B ERTEBEREREYIRT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
BB EERHRE RALBEE - ARABERTRE
BFIE

Social Performance

— Commitment to Service
Responsibility

ftEH KR

— R EEREE

We do not report on this issue as

the disclosure is not material to our
business. Our business does not
manufacture any physical product.
EHEBREENEEMNEBL TS
Z - EirEs EEER - KM
XU EBETMNERES

Social Performance

— Commitment to Service
Responsibility

MEFEMNESR

—RIEE AR EGE

Social Performance

— Commitment to Service
Responsibility

KRR

— R E R

Social Performance

— Commitment to Service
Responsibility

MHEFENKE

—RBEEREE

Social Performance

— Commitment to Service
Responsibility

e EAERIR

—REEERNEE
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RE dHE8RERKRE

Cross-reference in

BE BE —REER Description this Report/Statement
BREENER AES FREANRIX SR EH
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEBT7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RHWE

KPI BB & M5 E
B7.1

KPI BB E M5 E
B7.2

KPI BB &I
B7.3

Aspect B8:
JEmEBS:

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI BB E M5 E
B8.1

KPI BB E I E
B8.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.

BRI LB - BR - BEFROEREN - @BE &)
BTHETABEATENHBERLADINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERARNEETANEESRENEEENESF
ARMHEE RFRBER -

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
S E R BRI - URBEARITRERFE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
HilmEE L8 TIRHENREIFH -

Community Investment

HERE

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

RN EL2ERTHREEMTARTE EMBRET
AEBTBEZEMAENZOBE

Focus areas of contribution.
EXEREE -

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIREMBAER -

Social Performance
— Anti-corruption
MtEFENEKR
—RES

Social Performance
— Anti-corruption
MtEFERNEKR
—-REF

Social Performance
— Anti-corruption
MEFEMNESR
—-REF

Social Performance — Anti-corruption

N ERRIR
-REB

Social Performance

— Community Investment

HEHTEERR
—HERE

Social Performance

— Community Investment

HE T EARR
—HERE

Social Performance

— Community Investment

N ERRIR
—HERE
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Yu Leung

Aged 70, our founder, was appointed as chairman and executive
Director on 15 October 2015, and is a member of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Lau is also an independent non-
executive director of Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (Stock
Code: 2370). Mr. Lau has over 40 years of experience in the shipping
industry. Mr. Lau is primarily responsible for overall strategic planning,
development, decision making on important matters, important
investment strategies and management of senior executives of the
Group. Mr. Lau is currently serving as a director of Ever Harvest
Investments Limited (“Ever Harvest (BVI)”), Ever Harvest International
Holdings Limited (“EHIHL”), Ever Harvest, Xiamen Harvest Shipping
Limited (“Xiamen Harvest”), Greater China Shipping Limited (“Greater
China”), Millions Good Limited, Eternity Hong Kong Investment Limited
(“Eternity”) and Ever Harvest International Logistics (Shenzhen) Ltd.
(“EHIL"), as well as the general manager of EHIL, Shenzhen Ever
Harvest Logistics Co., Ltd. (“SEHL”) and Shenzhen Forever Harvest
Logistics Ltd. (“SFHL”).

Mr. Lau also serves in various organisations and associations in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Mr. Lau serves as a member of the National
Committee of the 13th Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (H Bl A R A 1 78 & #%), a committee member of the
9th, 10th and 11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
in the Fujian Province, the PRC (FEIARB A EZEEE L E
2) (“Fujian CPPCC”), and a member of the Standing Committee of the
11th Fujian CPPCC. In 2008, Mr. Lau was appointed as the permanent
honorary president of The Fukienese Association Limited (& & & &
A48 & AR A A]). In 2009, Mr. Lau was appointed as the permanent
honorary president of Hong Kong Quanzhou Clans United Association
(BEARINTREELL<E). In 2011, Mr. Lau was appointed as the
permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Quanzhou Associations
Limited (B8 R M B4 & AR 2 7). In 2013, Mr. Lau was appointed
as the vice-president of Association of Hong Kong Quanzhou Charity
Promotion Limited (& 4 & M 28 & (2 #E £ 2 B R 2 7)) and the vice-
chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations Limited (&
BRI BE € AR A a]). In 2014, Mr. Lau was appointed as the
president of Hong Kong CPPCC of Fujian Association Limited (1&
EEBRBMEZERES AR D A). Mr. Lau received from the
government of Hong Kong a medal of honour in 2011. In 2016, Mr. Lan
was awarded the title of outstanding builders of non-public sector of
the economy of Fujian Province by the People’s Government of Fujian
Province.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Madam Tong Hung Sum and father of Mr. Lau
Tak Fung Wallace and Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry.

EERSREBEAE[N

EE
HITES
BHEERE

WFE705% - BEMABIHA - K2015F10 A 15 H
BZAAREERANTES WAL RRREEZES
KE - BRENAENSRELEETARAR (BRHA
§% 1 2870) 2B IERITESE - BN AENEEITE
BER40FKR - EETTEEAEENEER
RS BE BEEHREK BEERARBES
BITBHABEE - BIEERETHKEREERA

A (KEIRE]) - KEEBRZEREBEFR AR ([XK
CEFER]) k8 - BEMBARAR ((EEH

Bl RPEMBERIR (KFE])  FTHE
[RAR - EMEBREBRAA (MEM]) KoxEE
REE(RIDARAAR(KEBEEEE) Z2ES
AROKEBIREE - RYITxEMRBERDR (NF
YIxEWiil) FoRrYImoxtt@Yin s R R (R
YxEBYR]) 2 BEHE -

BIEENREBERPRZ EA#E RGP ETH
e BEEETIPEARBAMESHEIZES
HZEBeZE8 PRARBAMBECHFEIE 5
10EAFI1EEREZES ((BEEWB) ZE
THEITERERHBENEEFREZESEE - K2008
F o RAERZTAETERERSEHERAFKE
ZESE -HR2000F  BAEEEZTEETERNM
MRABESKEZEESR - 20115 » B Lk
ZEAETBENABEGERABKREEZRE - 1
2013F  BIL A EZT AT BRIMNESRERS
ERAGEEELAESBETEBRZER A A
EF-R014F BEERZTARBREBERK
MEEBWESAERATER - ZILER2011FE
EEBRFEBEELERHE - R2016F B L EE
BAARBAETREZEIIEABHEEEFTER
HTBE -

BEERBEBRLLZIMG  LARRBEELERS
BHEEEZR -
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Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace

Aged 46, joined the Group in 2002, was appointed as chief executive
officer and executive Director on 3 March 2016 and is a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau is primarily
responsible for formulating and implementing the Group’s corporate
strategies and business development strategies, overseeing the Group’s
overall business development and implementing operation plans and
participating in the day-to-day management of the Group’s business
operations, and overseeing investment activities and transactions. Mr.
Lau is currently serving as a director of EHIHL, Ever Harvest, Xiamen
Harvest, Greater China, Eternity, EHIL and SEHL as well as a supervisor
of SFHL.

Mr. Lau is a member of the standing committee of the 13th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in the Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC (R B A RBUA T B € 3% E AL ik B
YR Z B &) and the executive vice president of Hong Kong CPPCC
Youth Association Limited (B/ERHE FEEHER A R]).

Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from the
California State Polytechnic University, Pomona. Mr. Lau is the son of
Mr. Lau Yu Leung and Madam Tong Hung Sum and the brother of Mr.
Lau Tak Kee Henry.

Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry

Aged 44, joined the Group in 2008, was appointed as an executive
Director on 3 March 2016. Mr. Lau is primarily responsible for
formulating and implementing the Group’s corporate strategies and
sales and marketing strategies, overseeing the Group’s overall business
development and implementing operation plans and participating
in the day-to-day management of the Group’s business operations,
and overseeing investment activities and transactions. Mr. Lau is also
responsible for the freight forwarding and I.T. support services of the
Group. Mr. Lau is currently serving as a director of EHIHL, Ever Harvest,
Xiamen Harvest, Greater China, Eternity, EHIL and SFHL.

Mr. Lau is a committee member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in the Xiamen Municipality, the PRC (4 B A
RBUamEEmEMMZEE). Mr. Lau has been a member of the
Hong Kong CPPCC Youth Association Limited (&8 155 E# &
R A &) since May 2014.

Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from
the University of Southern California. Mr. Lau is the son of Mr. Lau Yu
Leung and Madam Tong Hung Sum and the brother of Mr. Lau Tak
Fung Wallace.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

EERSREBEAE[HN

gEerE

IHEFEA465% 2002 F INAREE - 201643 A
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BREIHITEENE  URSEAEEEKEE
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Non-executive Director
Madam Tong Hung Sum

Aged 70, joined the Group in 2002, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 March 2016. Madam Tong is primarily responsible for
advising on overall strategic planning of the Group but not participating
in the day-to-day management of the Group’s business operation.
Madam Tong is currently serving as a director of EHIHL, Ever Harvest,
Xiamen Harvest, Greater China, Millions Good Limited and Eternity.
Madam Tong is also currently serving as a supervisor of EHIL and
SEHL.

Madam Tong is the spouse of Mr. Lau Yu Leung and the mother of Mr.
Lau Tak Fung Wallace and Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent

Aged 75, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 10 June 2016, and is the chairman of nomination committee of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee and audit
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lo has more than 30 years of experience in the field of jewellery and
property investment. Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive
director of Xinyi Solar Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 968), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lo is a member of the National Committee of the 10th, 11th and
12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (A7 Bl A RIBUA
WE &%) . Mr. Lo was awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) and Silver
Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the government of Hong Kong in July 2011 and
July 2017 respectively.

EERSREBEAE[N

FHITES
BERERZL

HWET0BL * N2002F INAREE - R2016F3 A
3 = z%%éfiﬁ%#%ﬂﬁ§$ %ﬁii;‘éﬁf?ﬂkﬁ

WE@E’JEI ﬁﬁ %ﬁifﬁfﬁk S Hx
g BeM®  KhE . ﬁﬂﬁﬁEﬁT&IEﬂZ§
= BRTBRNTEEKEEREERRIKEDR
ZEE -

ERRLTANRR A E Y RERD EE L LR
BlEMELE LT -

BIUFHITES
ERE K4
WETE5R  R2016F6 A 10 EZ T AE L IFEH

TEE  WAERRRIRBZE TR EARQREHMH
ZEENEZEEENE -

EXRENRERYERERHABBIOFLR -
EAREREBMIM ETARERLEERERA
A (R 5 : 968) Z B IFMITES ©

EEREATPRARBAHEEZEI0E 118
NEREEHEZESEE - EX4E D RIR20114F
7TARONTHF7TAEEBRFR FIREMNBERIE
KHEE o



42

EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ 5t A Fi 23w

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Lo

Aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 10 June 2016, and is the chairman of remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of the nomination committee and audit
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lam is executive director of South Asia Textiles (Holding) Limited
and has over 20 years of experience in the field of knitwear, garment,
knitting machinery and property development business. Mr. Lam is
a standing committee member of the Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce, Hong Kong; a general committee member of the Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association Hong Kong; and a member of the National
Committee of the 14th of the CPPCC.

Mr. Lee Ka Lun

Aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
10 June 2016, and is the chairman of audit committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has over 20 years of experience in banking and auditing. He had
been the Regional Deputy Chief Executive of Lloyds TSB Bank plc and
Regional Director — Finance and Operation of Lloyds TSB’s operations
in Asia for over 15 years and has extensive experience in corporate
banking, private banking, treasury, operations, IT developments and
general management. Mr. Lee is also an independent non-executive
director of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2360), Chow
Sang Sang Holdings International Limited (Stock Code: 116), Yuexiu
Property Company Limited (Stock Code: 123), all of which are listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee was also an independent non-
executive director of Chong Hing Bank Limited, a company previously
listed in Hong Kong, from 11 July 1994 to 30 September 2021. After
the delisting of Chong Hing Bank on 30 September 2021, Mr. Lee
remains an independent non-executive director of Chong Hing Bank
Limited.

Mr. Lee is a fellow member of The Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants (now known as “Association of Chartered Certified
Accounts”) since 1985.
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Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk

Aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 1 November 2016, and is a member of the audit committee of the
Company.

Mr. Kam has over 25 years of experience in auditing, professional
accounting, financial management and business administration. Mr.
Kam worked for several Hong Kong listed companies of various
industries and served senior roles in financial management and
secretarial functions. Mr. Kam is currently an executive director and the
chief executive officer of Get Nice Holdings Limited (stock code: 64);
a non-executive director of Pangaea Connectivity Technology Limited
(Stock Code: 1473); and an independent non-executive director of
Genes Tech Group Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8257) and
Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (stock code: 256).

Mr. Kam was appointed as a director of the board of directors of the
6th Term Guangzhou Overseas Friendship Association Committee in
March 2013, a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Shanghai Committee (Baoshan District) in
December 2016 and a director of the board of directors of the 7th Term
Shenzhen Overseas Friendship Association Committee in 2017.

Mr. Kam holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’s
Degree in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Kam is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate member of
The Chartered Governance Institute.
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Senior Management
Ms. Tse Yin Wan

Aged 66, joined the Group in 1996, is the senior deputy general
manager of our Company and is mainly responsible for internal
control and administrative matters of operating subsidiaries, including
overseeing project workflow and liaison with shipping companies. Ms.
Tse has more than 35 years of experience in the shipping industry.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Tse worked at Compagnie Maritime
D’Affretement (Asia) Limited as a China division manager, responsible
for shipping business in China.

Mr. Yu Ho Ming

Aged 45, joined the Group in 2020, Mr. Yu has been appointed as
the company secretary, the financial controller and the authorised
representative with effect from 6 July 2020. Mr. Yu has over 18 years of
experience in auditing, advisory accounting and financial management.
Mr. Yu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He obtained his honours diploma in accounting from Hong Kong Shue
Yan College (currently known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) and
he was awarded a Master of Finance from Curtin University.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of the top
priorities of the Company. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is one of the areas that lead to the success of the
Company and in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees, and the Board is devoted to ongoing enhancements of the
efficiency and effectiveness of such principles and practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had duly
complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance practices
in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with
the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the
rising expectations of the shareholders and investors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that, following
specific enquiry made by the Company, they complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the period from 1
January 2022 to the date of Board meeting approving the annual results
announcements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of which three are
executive Directors, one is non-executive Director and four are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lau Yu Leung is the chairman
and Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace is the chief executive officer of the
Company. The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer are
separate and are exercised by different individuals. The composition of
the Board and the biographical details of each Director are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 39 to 44.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there had been no change
in the composition of the Board.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board discusses the overall strategy as well as the operational
and financial performance of the Company. Other Board meetings
will be held when necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. The table below sets out the
attendance of all members of the Board at the meetings held during the
year ended 31 December 2022:
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EXEEmARRERBRBRANELE RMBE
R-MEFTE EFRTHMEHE %TFEF
ERREAMIEFTRIYEEEMETBALA
BIR2E - TR EES2BRENEE2022
F12ABLEFENGHHFELIE

i

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

HEBITEBRRE
Mr. Lau Yu Leung 2SS4 4/4
Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace EE Sie 4/4
Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry QmEEE 4/4
Madam Tong Hung Sum Rt e g 4/4
Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent ERBEA 4/4
Mr. Lam Lo MO % 2= 4/4
Mr. Lee Ka Lun FREEEE 4/4
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk HAEELEAE 3/4
In addition to attending Board or Board committee’s meetings, in BRHEEEefEEeLE8e@34  ANEELDR
order to make timely decision and implement the Group’s policies and SRFEW P EHIT A AT HNKRELED - EF 22
practice effectively, the Board also adopts written resolutions signed by AFEESHENZ2EIREE  TERAFER

all Directors to make decision on corporate affairs from time to time.

There are four independent non-executive Directors who represent one
half of the Board, among which Mr. Lee Ka Lun and Mr. Kam, Eddie
Shing Cheuk have appropriate professional qualifications as required by
the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Appropriate notices were given to all Directors in advance for attending
regular and other Board meetings. Meeting agenda and other relevant
information were provided to the Directors in advance of Board
meetings. All Directors were consulted to include additional matters in
the agenda for Board meetings.

Directors had access to the advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all
applicable rules and regulations, were followed.

Both the draft and final versions of the minutes were sent to all Directors
for their comment and records. Minutes of Board meetings were kept
by the company secretary and such minutes were open for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any Director.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

All Directors attended the annual general meeting of the Company on
27 May 2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the
Company’s affairs, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-
term strategies and appointing and supervising senior management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance with
the objective of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s corporate
governance policies which include: (i) development and review of the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; (i) review
and monitoring of the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; (i) review and monitoring of
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (iv) review and monitoring of the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and (v) review of the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain
responsibilities are delegated to various Board committees which have
been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Unless otherwise specified in their respective written
terms of reference as approved by the Board, these Board committees
are governed by the Company’s articles of association as well as the
Board’s policies and practices (in so far as the same are not in conflict
with the provisions contained in the articles of association). With the
composition of members of the nomination committee, remuneration
committee and audit committee, the independent non-executive
Directors will be able to effectively devote their time to perform the
duties required by the respective Board committees.
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The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing
its strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management of
the Company under the leadership of the executive Directors. Clear
guidance has been made as to the matters that should be reserved to
the Board for its decision which include matters on, inter alia, capital,
finance and financial reporting, internal controls, communication
with shareholders, Board membership, delegation of authority and
corporate governance. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for
the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. The financial statements set
out on pages 85 to 171 were prepared on the basis set out in Note 2 to
the financial statements. Financial results of the Group are announced
in a timely manner in accordance with statutory and/or regulatory
requirements. The declaration of reporting responsibility issued by
the external auditors of the Company on the Company'’s financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 76
to 84.

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective internal
control system in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders
and the assets of the Company against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring maintenance of proper books and records for the provision of
reliable financial information, and ensuring compliance with the relevant
rules and regulations.

The Company complied with Rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report. Except as disclosed in the section “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” above, there is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT HESXEERE

Each newly appointed Director receives relevant guideline materials and S ZTEEH B EERRBIESIER > W2 NEH
attends a training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a {EAEEZBELRSTT  EHARES 2 HEEEN X
Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors I R AR EERERA BB S T HE 2 EHl - KA FH
and the duty of disclosure of interest of the Group. Continuing briefings REER AEELHEEBN REEREE -

and professional development for Directors will be arranged whenever

appropriate.

The Directors attended external training and/or seminars and have read B E D HFEINFE I SEE - TEHEREAR
materials covering topics such as business and performance of the RBIEKMKBEUNGHEEEHEZER -

Company and accounting issues.

During the year 2022, all Directors had participated in continuous 20224 » 2B EZC L2 EFEFEEE T :
professional development in the following manner:

Type of Training

EIEE
Mr. Lau Yu Leung 2l S AE A
Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace EE = e A
Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry QmEEE A
Madam Tong Hung Sum Rt e A
Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent ERBEA A
Mr. Lam Lo MOB A& A
Mr. Lee Ka Lun FREAEE A
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk HAELAE A

A: attending seminars/courses/conference to develop professional skills and knowledge A HEHNE 312 €5 IS EE R R AR
B: reading materials in relation to regulatory update B: MEREEFIHFEENER
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

All non-executive Directors entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to re-election. For further
details, please refer to the Directors’ Report on page 50 of this report.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Article of Association”), at each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However,
if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one third shall be the retiring Directors.
The Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
the longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment, but
as for persons who became or were last re-elected as Directors on
the same day, the retiring Directors will (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot. Such retiring Directors may,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting of shareholders after
their appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and all
Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on 10 June 2016
with written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies
of our Board and/or in senior management. The nomination committee
currently consists of three Directors, being Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent,
Mr. Lam Lo and Mr. Lau Yu Leung, with Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent
acting as the chairman of the nomination committee. Mr. Lo Wan Sing
Vincent and Mr. Lam Lo are independent non-executive Directors, while
Mr. Lau Yu Leung is an executive Director.
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During the year 2022, one meeting of the nomination committee
was held to, amongst others, review the structure of the Board and
recommend to the Board for reappointment of all Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The nomination committee also
determined the criteria of its board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The attendance records of each committee members are as
follows:

R2022%6E REREBEBRIT—REgx U(H
TREB)RIEFERE  URREERRAFX
EENMZRI2RBETNEZTSRIES - REXER
ENEEHEEZE S TEBRR([EE8Z Tt
BE] 2 £ - RRBEREZHFELEWT

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

HE BITEEHE
Mr. Lau Yu Leung ZHmE L4t 1/1
Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent ERBAE 1/1
Mr. Lam Lo OB % &£ 1/1

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the nomination
committee will carry out the selection process by making reference
to the skills, experience, education background, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, and also the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations required for the positions. All candidates
must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and
3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director should also meet the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will
then be recommended to the Board for approval.
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To enhance the quality of the performance of the Board and to
achieve diversity on the Board, the Board adopted on 10 June 2016
its Board Diversity Policy, and amended such policy on 31 December
2018 pursuant to which (i) all Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against appropriate
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;
and (ii) selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
background and ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. If it
involves the appointment of an independent non-executive director
of the Board, the nomination committee shall also consider the
perspectives, skills and experience that the person can bring to the
Board, and how the person would contribute to the diversity of the
Board. The Company shall take into account its own business model
and specific needs, and disclose the rationale for the factors it uses
for this purpose. The ultimate decision shall be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. For the
purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the following
measurable objectives were adopted:

(1) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive directors;

(2) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(3) at least 70% of the members of the Board shall have more than
ten years of experience in the industry he/she is specialised in;

(4) at least two of the members of the Board shall have shipping-
related work experience; and

(5) at least one of the members of the Board shall be female
members to ensure appropriate balance of gender diversity.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has fulfilled the
measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 10 June
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.25 of
the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the remuneration
committee was adopted in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2 of
the CG Code. lts terms of reference are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to evaluate
the performance and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of our individual executive Directors and senior
management and no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration. The remuneration committee currently
consists of three Directors, being Mr. Lam Lo, Mr. Lo Wan Sing
Vincent and Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace, with Mr. Lam Lo acting as the
chairman of the remuneration committee. Mr. Lam Lo and Mr. Lo Wan
Sing Vincent are independent non-executive Directors, while Mr. Lau
Tak Fung Wallace is an executive Director. Details of remuneration of
Directors are set out in Note 7 to the Financial Statements.

During the year 2022, one meeting of the remuneration committee
was held, amongst others, to review and approve the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the Company.
The attendance records of individual committee members are as
follows:
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HE BITEEEA
Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace Dime gk 1/
Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent ER LA 1/1
Mr. Lam Lo OB A 1/1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 10 June 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, and amended on 31 December 2018. The written terms of
reference of the audit committee was adopted in compliance with Code
Provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
our financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems, nominate and monitor external auditors and to provide advice
and comments to the Board. The audit committee currently consists
of four Directors, being Mr. Lee Ka Lun, Mr. Lam Lo, Mr. Lo Wan Sing
Vincent and Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk, with Mr. Lee Ka Lun acting
as the chairman of the audit committee. All of them are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Lee Ka Lun has the appropriate
professional qualification as set out in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year 2022, three meetings of the audit committee were
held to review and discuss with the management of the Company and
the external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, as well as reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function
and other financial reporting matters. The attendance records of
individual committee members are set out below:
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Number of Meetings Attended/Held

HE BITEEEA
Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent [E R B 3/3
Mr. Lam Lo MO S A= 3/3
Mr. Lee Ka Lun FREEEE 3/3
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk HAEELE 2/3

The Board has not taken a different view from the audit committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining effective risk management
and internal control systems and conducting regular review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company. The risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are characterised by distinct division between power and
authority, clear procedures, high transparency and efficiency. The
Company has worked out a procedure for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks of the Company. Business departments of
the Company are responsible for identifying, supervising and evaluating
the risks related to themselves, and report to the Company’s senior
management on a regular basis. The senior management shall evaluate
and set priorities for the identified risks according to the procedure
set by the audit committee, and then submit risk alleviation plans to
the audit committee which shall appoint officers responsible for risk
management.

The risk management and internal control systems adopted by the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of
failing to achieve the business objectives and can only make reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, maintaining of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication, and ensuring compliance of applicable laws, rules
and regulations. However, the system can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The audit committee, which was delegated by the Board, reviews the
Group’s risk management and internal control procedures and systems
at least once per year, and has reviewed and evaluated the Group’s
internal control system put in place by management covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, risk
management functions and the internal audit function of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2022. The audit
committee considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group were effective and adequate.

The Company has an internal audit function. The audit committee
considered that the internal audit function was effective.
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The Company has formulated the insider information policies according
to the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Directors, senior management
and all others relevant employees are provided with the guidelines to
ensure that the Company promptly disclose the insider information
under reasonable and practicable circumstances. The guideline
contains a series of procedure to ensure that the information are
kept confidential before they are disclosed to the general public, and
shall publicly disclose such information immediately if the Company
considers that it is impossible to keep it confidential as required.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the Company engaged Mazars CPA Limited as the
external auditor. The fees in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for performing agreed-upon procedures on interim report
provided by Mazars CPA Limited for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to approximately HK$840,000 and HK$73,000, respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yu Ho Ming, being our company secretary, is primarily responsible
for the company secretarial work of our Group. Mr. Yu Ho Ming is also
our Company'’s financial controller. The Company confirms that Mr. Yu
Ho Ming has for the year ended 31 December 2022 attended no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company are prepared
in accordance with the Articles of Association as follows:

(1) One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, shall have the right, by written notice, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition.

(2)  Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company at the following address:

Principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
Address:  17/F, Excel Centre

483A Castle Peak Road

Cheung Sha Wan

Kowloon

Hong Kong

ir@xhsl.com.hk

Mr. Yu Ho Ming

Email:
Attention:
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The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene the meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so
in the same manner as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

For matters in relation to the Board, the shareholders can contact
the Company by the following methods:

Address: 17/F., Excel Centre
483A Castle Peak Road
Cheung Sha Wan
Kowloon
Hong Kong

Email: ir@xhsl.com.hk

Tel: (852) 3416 9178

Fax: (852) 3544 4188

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his or her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his or her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration
of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at the general
meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1)

At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires approval
by way of ordinary resolution of the Company.

At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires approval
by way of a special resolution of the Company in an EGM of the
Company or an ordinary resolution of the Company in an annual
general meeting of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level
of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. The Company
is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and public investors. The Company
updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and
financial performance through its corporate publications including
annual reports and public announcements. Extensive information about
the Company’s activities for the year ended 31 December 2022 has
been provided in this report. While the annual general meeting provides
a valuable forum that facilitates direct communications between the
Board and its shareholders, the Company also maintains its website
www.xhsl.com.hk to provide an alternative communication channel
for the public and its shareholders. All corporate communication and
Company’s latest updates are available on the Company’s website for
public’s information. Based on the above, the Company considers the
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year 2022
was adequate and effective. During the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this report, there has been no significant change
in the Company’s constitutional documents.

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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The Directors are pleased to present this report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and those of
the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 12 to the
Financial Statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s principal activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including an analysis using financial key performance indicators, a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can
be found in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
set out on pages 9 to 14 of this report. Such discussion forms part of
this Directors’ Report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group continues to update the requirements of the relevant
environmental laws and regulations applicable to it to ensure
compliance. The Group strive to minimise environmental impact by
saving electricity, and encouraging recycle of office supplies and
other materials. We also require the vessel operators to operate in
strict compliance with the relevant environmental regulations and
rules. For further details, please refer to our Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 15 to 38 of this report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to keep itself updated of the requirement of
the relevant laws and regulations in various countries and regions,
particularly in Hong Kong and the PRC, applicable to it to ensure
compliance. The majority of the Group’s assets are located and the
Group’s revenue is mainly derived from operations in both Hong Kong
and the PRC. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
complied with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the
PRC in all material respects.

Key Relationships
(i) Employees

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to attract,
retain and motivate employees. Key personnel have been part of
the management team since the inception of business. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group considered the
relationship with employees was well and the turnover rate was
acceptable.
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(i)  Suppliers

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a
number of our vendors and taken great care to ensure they share
our commitment to quality and ethics. The Group selects the
suppliers carefully and requires them to satisfy certain assessment
criteria including experience, financial strength, reputation and
quality control effectiveness.

(iijj Customers

The Group is committed to offer a quality and timely service to our
customers. We also stay connected with our customers in order
to meet their needs. We have ongoing communications with them
through various channels like telephone, email and marketing
materials.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the
Financial Statements on pages 85 to 171.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 172 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in Note 23 to the Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had share premium and
accumulated losses in the amount of approximately HK$113,332,000
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$113,138,000) which is available
for distribution to the shareholders under applicable provisions of the
Companies Act in the Cayman Islands subject to conditions of the
Articles of Association.
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TOP-UP PLACING OF EXISTING SHARES AND
SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE

On 27 July 2021, in order to raise additional funds, the Company
entered into a placing and subscription agreement with Ever Winning
Investment Company Limited (the “Vendor”) and Alpha Financial
Group Limited (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Vendor
conditionally agreed to subscribe for 100,000,000 new shares of the
Company at the price of HK$0.231 per share. The aggregate nominal
value of the shares subscribed is HK$1,000,000. The market price of
the share was HK$0.260 as at the date of the placing and subscription
agreement. The completion of the placing and the subscription took
place on 30 July 2021 and 6 August 2021, respectively. The placing
shares are allotted to no less than six independent placees which are
professional, institutional or other investors. The net proceeds from
the subscription amounted to approximately HK$20.5 million (net of
expenses relating to the top-up placing), which would be used for (i)
potential acquisition of additional vessel(s); (ii) the repayment of the
Company’s existing borrowings; and (i) general working capital of the
Group. Details of the top-up placing and subscription of new shares are
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 27 July 2021 and
6 August 2021. The following table sets forth the Company’s intended
timetable for use of proceeds from the above subscription as at 31
December 2022:
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Potential acquisition of additional vessel(s)  Approximately HK$12.3 million 9,142,000 3,158,000 31 December 2023
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Repayment of existing borrowings Approximately HK$6.1 million 6,100,000 - N/A
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On 14 September 2021, in order to raise additional funds, the Company
entered into a placing and subscription agreement with the Vendor
and the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the Vendor conditionally
agreed to subscribe for 50,000,000 new shares of the Company at
the price of HK$0.231 per share. The aggregate nominal value of the
shares subscribed is HK$500,000. The market price of the share was
HK$0.285 as at the date of the placing and subscription agreement.
The completion of the placing and the subscription took place on 17
September 2021 and 24 September 2021, respectively. The placing
shares are allotted to no less than six independent placees which are
professional, institutional or other investors. The net proceeds from
the subscription amounted to approximately HK$10.1 million (net of
expenses relating to the top-up placing), which would be used for
(i) repayment of the Company’s existing borrowings; and (ii) general
working capital of the Group. Details of the top-up placing and
subscription of new shares are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 14 September 2021 and 24 September 2021. The
following table sets forth the Company’s intended timetable for use of
proceeds from the above subscription as at 31 December 2022:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

EEEREE

R2021F9A 148 REEFZES  AREHE
AREEREBITVEERAERS Bt BEAE
& 14 R = LA & 8%.0.231 7 JT /9 {8 4% 72 8% 50,000,000
A& AR EFARD o FTsR B8 AR {5 /Y 42 T 18 & 500,000
BT -NESREHEBE  BRHOMEAE0.285
BT - EFSEERREETED IKR2021F9H17
AK2021F9A24H =K - EEERHERE T
DRABBEE - WEREMITEENE AR
A o REBIEMATERIEFEL A10,100,000 7% 7T
(MBRHRLERFRESENAS) - BARHER
RRARRBER  Ri)AEBH—REEES - &
ERTERERBETRONFBINALT A H
B2021F9 A14B K2021 F9 A24BMHAE - T
FEINARREE2022F 12 A31 B8 A Ll BB
EEMBFIANRZERBEE

Amount of net Balance of Intended

proceeds net proceeds timetable for

utilized as at  unutilized as at use of the

31 December 31 December unutilized net

Intended use of net proceeds Allocation of net proceeds 2022 2022 proceeds
HZE2022F HZE2022F

12A318 12A31H BRAREA

EEANRE MARB RS ECE R

FRNEFECREAR DEAERIEAEE REFHE RE R HEBERER
HK$ HK$
Er T

Repayment of existing borrowings Approximately HK$5.05 million 5,050,000 - N/A
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 35.0% (year ended 31
December 2021: approximately 33.0%) of the Group’s total revenue
and the largest customer accounted for approximately 12.5% (year
ended 31 December 2021: 13.1%) of the total revenue. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 51.3% (year ended 31 December 2021:
approximately 42.2%) of the Group’s cost of services and the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 24.8% (year ended 31 December
2021: 21.1%) of the cost of services. None of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares
of the Company) has interest in any of the five largest suppliers or
customers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note
12 to the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who hold office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Yu Leung (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry

Non-executive Director

Madam Tong Hung Sum

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wan Sing Vincent

Mr. Lam Lo

Mr. Lee Ka Lun

Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk
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Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years from 6 July 2016 and shall
continue thereafter until terminated by, not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years from 6 July
2019, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting and until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

There is no service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation) of any Director
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS AND PERMITTED
INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors and other officers
for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or
sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty, and none of them shall
be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other
of them, or for joining in any receipt for the sake of conformity, or for
any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects of
the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for
the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys
of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or for any other
loss, misfortune or damage which may arise in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto, except as the same
shall happen by or through their own fraud, dishonest, or recklessness.
The Company may take out and pay the premium and other moneys
for the maintenance of insurance, bonds and other instruments for the
benefit either of the Company or the Directors (and/or other officers) or
any of them to indemnify the Company and/or Directors (and/or other
officers) named therein for this purpose against any loss, damage,
liability and claim which they may suffer or sustain in connection with
any breach by the Directors (and/or other officers) or any of them of
their duties to the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company during
the year. The permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) when this Directors’
Report has been approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the year to
which the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 39 to 44 of this report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has a total of 203 employees (31
December 2021: 198 employees). The Group’s remuneration policy is
to compensate its employees based on their performance, qualifications
and the Group’s operating results. The total remuneration of employees
includes basic salaries and cash bonus.

Directors and senior management of the Group receive compensation
in the form of fees, salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus, defined
contribution plans and other benefits in kind with reference to those
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance
of the Group. The Group also reimburses its Directors and senior
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operations of the Group. The Group regularly
reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation packages
(including incentive plans) of its Directors and senior management,
by reference to, among other things, market level of remuneration
and compensation paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of its Directors and senior management and the
performance of the Group.

There was no consideration provided to or receivable by any third party
for making available the services of a person as a Director, or in any
other capacity while as a Director during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

The remuneration of members of the senior management (other than
the Directors) of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 fell
within the following bands:
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HERE) - AT B2 FHBE T [ B RERT 8 ) —&f -
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Year ended 31 December
BE12A3BLEEE

2022 2021

Remuneration bands Number Number
FEN4a Bl A AZ
Nil - HK$1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 0 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %8 7T £ 1,500,000 % 7T 2 1
2 2

Particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the Financial Statements,
respectively.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no contract of significance
to which the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries had a material interest subsisting at the end of the year
or at any time during the year. Furthermore, there was no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY A
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

A deed of non-competition in respect of the controlling shareholders
was entered into on 10 June 2016 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”).
The controlling shareholders have confirmed to the Company of
their compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition provided to the
Company during the year.
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The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the status of
compliance and also the confirmation by the controlling shareholders
and, on the basis of such confirmation, are of the view that the
controlling shareholders have complied with the Deed of Non-
Competition which has been enforced by the Company in accordance
with its terms.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has made an annual declaration
in respect of their compliance with the terms of non-competition
undertaking as provided in their service agreements.

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the status of
compliance as well as confirmation by each executive Director and,
on the basis of such confirmation, are of the view that such executive
Directors complied with the non-competition undertakings under their
service agreements and these non-competition undertakings have been
enforced by the Company in accordance with its terms.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not enter
into any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
which need to be disclosed in this annual report under Rule 14A.49 of
the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 10 June 2016. The Scheme provides the eligible participants an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the view to
achieving the following objectives: (i) motivating the eligible participants
to optimise their performance efficiency for our benefit; and (i) attracting
and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business relationships
with the eligible participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to our long-term growth.

Subject to the terms of the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion,
offer to grant an option to subscribe for shares to eligible participants,

which include:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers the
Group;

(i)  any directors of the Group;
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(i)

(iv)

any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the
Group; and

such other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will
contribute or have contributed to the Group.

Details of the principal terms of the Scheme are set out in paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” in section headed “Statutory and
General Information” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus. The principal
terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

The Scheme was adopted from a period of 10 years commencing
from 10 June 2016 and remains in force until 9 June 2026. The
Company may by resolution in general meeting or the Board
may at any time terminate the operation of the Scheme. Options
granted prior to such termination but not yet exercised at the
time of termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the Scheme.

The exercise price per share of the Company for each option
granted shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
but in any event shall be not less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant which must be a trading day;

(i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Company'’s share.
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An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
by the grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
document constituting acceptance of the options duly signed by
the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is
received by the Company on or before the relevant acceptance
date. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time after the date upon which the option
is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry
of 10 years from that date, subject to earlier termination by the
Company in general meeting or by the Board.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on the listing
date of the Company, being 140,000,000 shares (representing
approximately 9.0% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company as at the date of this report) (the “Scheme Limit”), unless
the Company seeks the approval of the shareholders in general
meeting for renewing the Scheme Limit or grant options beyond
the Scheme Limit to eligible participants specifically identified by
the Board, provided that options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
Scheme Limit.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to
time.

The maximum number of shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each eligible
participant under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including both exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess
of this 1% limit shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the
Company and approval by shareholders in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

No options have been granted, exercised or cancelled under the
Scheme since its adoption up to the date of this report.
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Apart from the Scheme, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2022 was any of the Company and its holding companies, subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of
the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures of, the Company, or
had exercise any such right.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

The Company
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Approximate

percentage
Number and class of interest
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest of securities!” in the Company
RAARNER
EEng LV £:3:3-1 REHBERERO BATH
Mr. Lau Yu Leung® Interest of controlled corporation® 1,007,072,000 64.97%
and interest of spouse® Shares (L)
BlEEL A RELAEERORE BERY & (5F2E)
Madam Tong Hung Sum®@ Interest of controlled corporation® 1,007,072,000 64.97%
and interest of spouse® Shares (L)
BB L@ X EERERC R BERO fig (4 2)
Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace Interest of controlled corporation?” 1 0.00%
Share (L)
BfELRE REAERER i (4 2)
Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry Interest of controlled corporation® 52,500,000 3.39%
Shares (L)
BlfEE LA RELEEZRO & (5F2)
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Notes:

The letter “L.” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under Part XV of the SFO)
in the Shares.

Mr. Lau Yu Leung is the spouse of Madam Tong Hung Sum.

954,572,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ever Winning Investment
Company Limited (“Ever Winning Investment”), which is owned as to 100% by Mr.
Lau Yu Leung.

52,500,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ever Forever Investment Company
Limited, which is owned as to 100% by Madam Tong Hung Sum, the spouse of Mr.
Lau Yu Leung. Mr. Lau Yu Leung is deemed to be interested in Madam Tong Hung
Sum’s interest in the Company by virtue of the SFO.

52,500,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ever Forever Investment Company
Limited, which is owned as to 100% by Madam Tong Hung Sum.

954,572,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ever Winning Investment, which
is owned as to 100% by Mr. Lau Yu Leung, the spouse of Madam Tong Hung Sum.
Madam Tong Hung Sum is deemed to be interested in Mr. Lau Yu Leung’s interest in
the Company by virtue of the SFO.

1 Share are registered in the name of Ever Miracle Investment Company Limited,
which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace.

52,500,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ever Glorious Investment Company
Limited, which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Lau Tak Kee Henry.

Associated Corporations
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Approximate

Number and class percentage

of securities in the of interest

Name of associated associated in the associated

Name of Directors corporation Nature of interest corporation corporation

REBEEHN REBEZEH

EEME HEEEER Bang BHEHBERER EEfAEst

Mr. Lau Yu Leung Ever Winning Investment  Beneficial Owner () 1 ordinary share 100%
RlEE LA EmEAAD % i A

Madam Tong Hung Sum  Ever Winning Investment  Interest of spouse @ 1 ordinary share 100%
BEBRHRR T A B @ 1% & 38 AR

Notes: Hiat -
1. The disclosed interest represents the interests in the associated corporation, Ever 1. Fir 45 75 48 2= 75 72 AR Bt & 8] Ever Winning Investment B #E 25 -
Winning Investment, which is held as to 100% by Mr. Lau Yu Leung. HERBESLAEHEE100% -
2. Madam Tong Hong Sum is the spouse of Mr. Lau Yu Leung. By virtue of the SFO, 2. BRRLZTRZBELENRME - RIBFHF RBEKO -

Madam Tong Hong Sum is deemed to be interested in the 1 share of Ever Winning
Investment held by Mr. Lau Yu Leung.
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
of the date of this report, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons/entities, other than
those disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures”, had interests and/or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Interest in the Company

EEEREE

BREXHBBEEN BEEMAM RAHRSEA
B BEEFTHARARHTRABRRAAFHHE
EAREEE (E& R B 5 LB EPIEXV RS
EAREEE) M) SRR D EREE T - HE
RIRE 5 R BB R 01 5 352 (R R E 8N A T &
FHECMANESEIORE - HAERE LR
8510 IRETRIBAA R B LB X PR EOR R ©

FERR

R2022F12A31H BRIEFERESTHRAER
BEAD ~ BRI M EEE 2 S AR | — ST i
BEN TIAL/ BEERKRD RBRERMDTPEES
BIEBA RS EMNEXVEE2R3D IIEET
BRI ELAREESF LK AE KPS 336 1KE T
FHERMAzZ#ERmR/ RAE

NN

al

Approximate

percentage
Number and of interest
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest class of securities” in the Company
RN R ER
BRR%EE 5 EuME BHEERERHO BREDL
Ever Winning Investment® Beneficial Owner 954,572,000 61.59%
Shares (L)
ER#AEA M (51 2)
Notes: Kt -
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under Part XV of the SFO) 1. [LIE—BATRBOOTE (TERESRPEENE
in the Shares. XVEB) o
2. The Company is held as to approximately 61.59% by Ever Winning Investment. 2. 78 &) i Ever Winning Investment 5 8 #761.59% ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Company
had not been notified by any persons, other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or
has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2022.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors were not aware of any tax relief and exemption the
shareholders are entitled by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Save the contracts of service with any Director or any person engaged
in the full-time employment of the Company, during the year ended 31
December 2022, there was no contract by which any person undertook
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
Company maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be found in
the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages 45 to 58 in this
report.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there was no important
event affecting the Group which occurred after the reporting period.

AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. Mazars CPA
Limited, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By order of the Board

Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited
Lau Yu Leung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

EEEREE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

mazars

B BH R

To the members of
Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ever
Harvest Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 171, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ( “HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Mazars CPA LIMITED
h 2 IR (U ) ot ms s A )

42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
BT 1858

rh R B By 4048

Tel & : (852) 2909 5555

Fax ¥ £ : (852) 2810 0032
Email 78 : info@mazars.hk
Website# ik : www.mazars.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

BYRBERES

BEESEE

MaEs FESRERMOTLAN  RAYEF
EGAMBRRNBHRAEENEE - GLFH
RERMEHERGANERARHMATARE
THEN - AMTEHELFERHEBOER -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
BREITER

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
RN ETNAEERRESSE

agreements for preferential use

REEACERAHENEERBAERGERI SN

Recognition of feeder vessels under usage priority agreements or sales & purchase and supplemental transfer

Refer to Note 2 and Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
245 BIRE N T2 RFFE 13 -

The Group entered into usage priority agreements
(the “Usage Priority Agreements”) or sales & purchase
and supplemental transfer agreements (the “Transfer

Our procedures, among others, included:

BFIMEIEF & (AP EHE)

Agreements”) for preferential use on five vessels with the
legal owners of each vessel. Under the Usage Priority
Agreements or the Transfer Agreements:
ESENELACAOTEMMESMMEAEEREB AGTL
BERERBZE(EBLEEAME]) EERFBTEER R
(TEEBZE])  WELAETRASEMM - BREBELERH
BENEEE

— the Group has the exclusive preferential right to use
and the entitlement on the benefits from the use of
these vessels;
EEERBEAZEMMOBRELEREAZSE
f AR PTIS M 2 O RE R

—  the Group has preferential right to acquire the interests
or obtain the sales proceeds of disposal (pre-approval
by the Group in advance) of these vessels; and
EEEREBUBZEMMAOERSIRSHEZSM
fMCESEERGE BESEHE) NEEMERENE
Vit

— any transfer, leasing, write-off or pledge of these
vessels have to be approved by the Group in advance.
EHE - LE MEXERZSEMMEAESE LN
5 EEEHE-

discussing with the management of the Group on the
validity of the Usage Priority Agreements or the Transfer
Agreements and the enforceability of the terms of these
agreements with reference to a legal opinion on these
matters;

S2REBFENZEERE SEEERENREL
150 PR 175 o o 85 6 10 ok B0 78 A1 Ko AEL B 177 5 1R SR B0 PT
T

analysing the terms of these agreements and assessing
the bases on which the management of the Group and
the legal expert concluded that the Group has control
over these vessels and can obtain future economic
benefits from the use of them; and

DA RENERRLTE EXEEEENREARR
KRR BRETIEHZEMMUARAIRERZSMN
RS RSB ) 25 - &

evaluating the legal expert’s competence, capabilities
and objectivity.
EEEERNER  BAREEM -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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EEESEE (A

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
BMREITEER

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
RN ETNAEERRESNSE

Recognition of feeder vessels under usage priority agreements or sales & purchase and supplemental transfer

agreements for preferential use (Continued)

REBACAHBEIEERBAERIH AR SN (H)

Refer to Note 2 and Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

2 A ERRIZ2 RATE 13 ()

Empowered by the terms under the Usage Priority
Agreements or the Transfer Agreements, the Group can
demonstrate the disposal, transfer, leasing, write-off or
pledge of these vessels have to be pre-approved by the
Group. In addition, the Group can obtain future economic
benefits associated with these vessels by exercising the
exclusive preferential right to use these vessels to provide
logistic services to the customers and obtain the sales
proceeds on disposal of these vessels. The management
of the Group, based on the terms set out in the Usage
Priority Agreements or the Transfer Agreements and the
actual usage of these vessels, considered that in substance
the Group is able to use these vessels and obtain future
economic benefits through the use of these vessels
physically as if it was the legal owners throughout the period
covered by the Usage Priority Agreements or the Transfer
Agreements. Accordingly, these vessels are recorded by the
Group as property, plant and equipment under Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”.
At 31 December 2022, the aggregate net carrying amount
of these vessels was approximately HK$22,120,000.
REEXERGEHNEBERRBET 2GR EKERE
BRAHE HE B8 WMEIXERZSMMERAEE
B SEXEEHE-WI EXEEEBRITEBRE.
BERZSEMMRETEPREDRRB LG L EZSMH
AREY8H & PT1S RRIE - XS B 5% S5 M A0 AR B O R 2R 458
me BEXEENEEERBEAEAHRANEEHEH
ZHERRZEMMOERERABER R EXEEE
FRIEAZEMAM - WiEBEAZEMMAIERREOLE
B MR EBEERARRERNEERRRENHEA
REEMBEE Bt EXEREFEGLERE16
SIME - BERREIEZEMMAADE BB &R
o MN2022F12A31E  ZEMMBREFEOR
22,120,000 7T °
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BARETEE(E)
THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
HARETER BEMNEFNNEEFARESN SR

Recognition of feeder vessels under usage priority agreements or sales & purchase and supplemental transfer
agreements for preferential use (Continued)

REBACAHBEIEERBAERIH AR SN (H)

Refer to Note 2 and Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)
BRiFE I REN T2 RMTaE13 o (&)

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter
because the recognition of these vessels as the Group’s
property, plant and equipment involves a significant degree
of management judgement and therefore is subject to an
inherent risk of error.

BPE B L EEERRBRETFE ARNERZE
MMER EEENYE BEARRBIREREERRE
e AtEEERBKRR -

Revenue recognition

Wy 55 FERR

Refer to consolidated income statement and Note 2 and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
DA NSRRGSR ENF 2R FE4 -

Included in the revenue are rendering of feeder shipping | Our procedures, among others, included:
services of approximately HK$490,516,000, rendering | B FEE (Hh8F)
of carrier owned container services of approximately

HK$75,040,000, rendering of sea freight forwarding agency | —  assessing the design, implementation and operating
services of approximately HK$89,518,000 and rendering of effectiveness of management’s key internal controls over
barge services of approximately HK$444,000. revenue recognition;
Ui 25 B 4R 4R A S AR M BR 755 80 M 2549 490,616,000 8 7T ~ 1 AEERERANGHERNERADEENRET -
fHFGE A B A 8 R #) M5 975,040,000 4 7T~ 1R 8 T REERNIL

& i IR AR 75 B9 U 35 49 89,518,000 7 T K 3% £ 5 i AR
75 UL %5 49 444,000 7 T © —  inspecting contracts, on a sample basis, to understand

the terms of delivery and acceptance and check the
relevancy of contract milestone(s), to assess the Group’s
revenue recognition with reference to the criteria set out
in HKFRS 15; and
MERESOUTHRIBEREBREGNEERIEN
MM M2 ZEEVBRELEF16FAMTE
AFE BEEENKRER &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

BYRBERES

EEESEE (A

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
BMREITEER

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
RN ETNAEERRESNSE

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Wz R ()

Refer to consolidated income statement and Note 2 and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

2R E W e R R E M HRER M it 2 kit 4 - (B)

The Group recognised its revenue from the aforementioned
services over a period of time. It involves measurement of
the outcome of a performance obligation based on contract
milestone(s) and therefore it requires the application of
management’s judgement.

EEER-BRERER Ll AP RBESHNER
ERFEENEENEDL B EIRERERHIE -

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter
because revenue is one of the key performance indicators
of the Group and because there is an inherent risk in the
application of management’s judgement.

BAE LA EEBNREREAFTE BREER &
SEHEP-EHAREREE HEEBERAEGFER
R -

—  checking, on a sample basis, to supporting documents,
such as transit port arrival record, to verify the revenue is
recognised in accordance with contract milestone(s).
MERE X (NEE B ED ) URERE =
BIRBEAEEER TIAHER -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the 2022
annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

BYRBERES
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Fong Chin Lung

Practising Certificate number: P07321
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT meEWEX
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaE FET FHET
Revenue Wz 4 655,518 488,964
Cost of services Rk 7% B AR (551,708) (407,231)
Gross profit EF 103,810 81,733
Other income EH Uz A 5 11,859 19,757
Administrative and other THREMEER
operating expenses (80,835) (73,912)
Finance costs B & R AR 6 (1,938) (1,076)
Profit before tax BR B AR 6 32,806 26,502
Income tax expenses B R X 9 (5,254) (3,719)
Profit for the year FEBR 27,642 22,783
Earnings per share BREAEF HK cents HK cents
Al BN
Basic HAK 11 1.78 1.57
Diluted BE 11 1.78 157
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GEeTHERER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit for the year FERF 27,642 22,783
Other comprehensive (expenses) income Hah2mE (BIX) A
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HEEMNEHDEEEmMIER
to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation REELERERZR (4,569) 1,533

Total comprehensive income for the year FEZEWALTE 23,073 24,316
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION
At 31 December 2022

R E MR R R

R20224F 12 A31 H

87

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k23 FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEEmE - BB KEHENE 2
plant and equipment 17 - 10,541
Property, plant and equipment Y - WELEE 13 113,770 100,529
Investment properties KEE 15 61,356 63,946
175,126 175,016
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABENYBEE 16 6,050 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H M EIGRIE 17 83,154 97,015
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITER 18 811 662
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 147,991 123,821
238,006 221,498
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables E 5 K E bR FIE 19 120,530 122,601
Income tax payable FET TSR 5,294 4,220
Interest-bearing borrowings SHEER 20 64,584 69,662
Lease liabilities HEAR 21 1,287 1,543
191,695 198,026
Net current assets REBEETFHR 46,311 23,472
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBERE 221,437 198,488
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEEE 21 1,047 1,171
NET ASSETS EEZFE 220,390 197,317
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RE MR R R

R20224F 12 A31 H

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
K st FET FHET

Capital and reserves EXRFEE

Share capital & s 23 15,500 15,500

Reserves & 204,890 181,817

TOTAL EQUITY =BT 220,390 197,317

These consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 171 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24
March 2023 and signed on its behalf by

LAU Yu Leung
ZIERE

Director

EF

FSHEITIEMBE 2 HAUEREREESER
2028 F 3 A4 EW R EEIT  WAHMNTES
REERE

LAU Tak Fung Wallace
gEe
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES HREERBER
IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
Reserve
fife
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation Other  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total Total
BA  BEE  EARE  AEEE 0 EXEE O HbRBE  ZHE7 NGt @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TEL FET TET TET FET TET TET TET
(Note 24(a))  (Note 24(b) ~ (Note 24(c)  (Note 24(d)  (Note 24(e)
(iio4e)  (Bizzoqp)  (Wiioae)  (Wato4)  (Hiatode)
At 1 January 2021 B2021%1A18 14,000 86,455 10,102 299 381 4,442 26,742 128,421 142,421
Profit for the year FERT - - - - - - 22,783 22,783 22,783
Other comprehensive H2EHRA
income:
ltem that may be HEENHEZE
reclassified subsequently EuiEE
to profit or loss
Exchange difference on GAEANERZS
consolidation - - - - 1,533 - - 1,533 1,533
Total comprehensive FERENALE
income for the year - - - - 1,533 - 22,783 24,316 24,316
Issue of ordinary shares REMEMLER
upon placing (Note 23) (B1:#23) 1,500 29,080 - - - - - 29,080 30,580
At 31 December 2021 120215128318 15,500 115,585 10,102 299 1914 4442 49,525 181,817 197,317
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES HREERBEHR
IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
Reserve
fte
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation Other Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total Total
BE  BROEE  ERREE  iERE 0 EXRE  BtRE  2iEd et o
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FiEx FiEx TET FiEx TET FET FiEx TET FET
(Note 24(a))  (Note 24(b))  (Note 24(c))  (Note 24(d)) (Note 24(e))
(W24a) (KF24b) (Hit2d(c) (Kd24() (Kt 24(e)
At 1 January 2022 B202%1418 15,500 115,535 10,102 299 1,914 4,442 49,525 181,817 197,317
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 27,642 27,642 27,642
Other comprehensive H2ERX:
expenses:
ltem that may be AR ENIES
reclassified subsequently BamfEH
to profit or loss
Exchange difference on GAEANERZS
consolidation - - - - (4,569) - - (4,569) (4,569)
Total comprehensive FERENALE
income for the year - - - - (4,569) - 27,642 23,073 23,073
At 31 December 2022 R2022512831A 15,500 115,535 10,102 299 (2,655) 4,442 77,167 204,890 220,390
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #LREeHRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaE FET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZTH
Cash generated from operations EEEANRS 25 63,964 25,406
Income tax paid BATFTISHE (4,180) (579)
Interest paid BAFE (1,938) (1,076)
Net cash from operating activities RETEHEECRES TR 57,846 23,751
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Consideration paid for the acquisition of WEE—fEWB AR Z
a subsidiary ERRE 19(b) (5,700) (50,300)
Interest received B U F B 230 110
Dividend income from financial BERAFEFABRZD
assets at FVPL VB EERERA 164 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & E 1% - Bz K& & (10,983) (134)
Increase in investment properties "EYELM - (499)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BERAFEFTAEBR
BB 75 & B (7,465) -
Payment for deposits for acquisition of BEWME - BE M&E
property, plant and equipment EOEIANEN - (10,541)
Net proceeds from disposals of property,  HEWE - B= L &RE
plant and equipment FriS 3B 558 - 927
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HEZAFEF AERE
at FVPL BB & E 2 PT1S 5RIR - 5,797
(Increase) Decrease in pledged bank EERBITHERCEM) R
deposits (149) 127
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFAZESTE (23,903) (54,513)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary shares & Bt & B {7 M %577 % 38 iR
upon placing of shares B P18 BB F5R 23 - 30,580
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings & &£+ BE XK 27(b) 30,378 38,729
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings & &5 B.{& 7% 27(b) (35,456) (14,318)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE 27(b) (1,680) (1,780)
Net cash (used in) from BMEEH (TR BZREFE
financing activities (6,758) 53,211
Net increase in cash and ReRBESEEYWIEMBE
cash equivalents 27,185 22,449
Cash and cash equivalents at the REEHINRERRSEEY
beginning of the reporting period 123,821 102,641
Effect on exchange rate changes ERFFHNTE (3,015) (1,269)
Cash and cash equivalents attheend RBEHFRANEESRBESESEY
of the reporting period, represented BRTHEBRES
by bank balances and cash 147,991 123,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman lIslands on 15 October 2015 and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 6 July 2016. The Company’s immediate
and ultimate holding company is Ever Winning Investment
Company Limited (“Ever Winning Investment”), a company with
limited liability incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).
The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Lau Yu Leung (the
“Ultimate Controlling Party”). The registered office of the Company
is situated at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The Company’s
principal place of business is situated at 17/F., Excel Centre, 483A
Castle Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The Company together with its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are principally engaged in rendering of sea freight
transportation and freight forwarding services in Hong Kong and
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The details of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange. A summary of the principal accounting
policies adopted by the Group in preparing the consolidated
financial statements is set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company, and rounded to the nearest thousands unless
otherwise indicated.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2021
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current year:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Annual Improvements to 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRS

The adoption of the above new/revised HKFRSs did not have
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), which
are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policy
as set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests (if applicable). Total comprehensive
income is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-
controlling interest (if applicable) even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the
date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts
owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a
financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate
from the date when control is lost.

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE
2. REEERTESBEE (E)

REEE (&)
REEEZZE

3 8 G BN 5% B Sk 5 Y — R B 8 )

MEBREaZEE  NEABBEXHARK-
RS EERERNRE SRS ELA
B URBREERHE QR AR EE) -
FERRENAESREDNH D RRER
FEMERNERNZR BENERERIL
BERARRHEAA -

AN EB R EH —EH B AR 2 - Bl
HEBRERTIMEZZRF;E  ()RNKE
IS B AR E WA (E R T EEIAR
BREZATFEZEM  RiREEZHEE
FfBARcEE (BREE) REERIM
s REE - SRR A2 S
BREBEMEEMNBARZEH  HERR
BRATERLERNMEERRBE IR &%
ABR e IR B A AR B Z AR IR E K AT
BRARBRIRNAMBAR ZEMEER
REERE BERERBRARIEMB
BE BEQR GELRHHEM-

95



96

EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ 5t A Fi 23w

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its
recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the
recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and/or
receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

mEe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. Where
parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
Containers 10 years
Feeder vessels 10 to 20 years
Barges 10 to 20 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are building that are held by owner or
lessee, to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include properties held for a currently undetermined future
use.

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation
is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment
losses of investment property over the unexpired term of lease,
using straight-line method, after taking into account its estimated
residual values.

Investment properties held by the Group under leases are
accounted in the same way as other right-of-use assets.
Depreciation is recognised for those investment properties over
the unexpired term of lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognized.

Financial instruments

Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments
and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair
value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured
at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured
at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory FVOCI”);
(iii) equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI”); or (iv) measured at
FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business model for
managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period,
following the change in the business model.

1)  Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(i)  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade
and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost at FVOCI including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried
at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss recognised
in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest
income is presented separately from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

(i)  part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i)  a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract
or not a designated and effective hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

2)  Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)
Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets at FVPL include equity investments
listed in Hong Kong.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and interest-bearing borrowings. All financial liabilities, except
for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would
be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
(“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost.
At each reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance
for a financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the
credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition. The Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial asset that
meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. Irrespective of the
outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

All financial assets, except for trade receivables, are determined
to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL e BERRMEE
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL 2. WMBEERFIESHBCR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) BT A (&)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under BIBEEREBHBHEENEIHRTZH

HKFRS 9 (Continued) b1 B 2 18 (4&)

Credit-impaired financial asset 1B B & E

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that ERE-BRZEEHMYMEEENGET

have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of ARBEREEEITNZER  ZUBEE

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset MaEHBEERE WBEELREERE
is credit-impaired include observable data about the following BB EEELN TSN TERER
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower. @  BEIT ASERARE KRB ERE -

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event. b)) ERELH PlRELHIEISEH-

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual € ERABEZRA LR E A B B 2
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having EHANEESEHNRAMERARLE
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) RAREIAGERBHEE -
would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter d ERAEEEBESETEMPKE
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 4 o

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial e BEIREE ARG EEENERTIS
asset because of financial difficulties. K o

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep M NURKEFHNEEXELEWBHBEE  HR
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. e RREEEE -

Write-off 25

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no EAEERBEAEEHWEMBEES K

reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows MraWRenerR ANEBNMETEE

on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group B o RS ETEH S g 4l 8 2 58 B KD

expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. MERIE - A EMEAI B EEDN R

However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject B SE B O B AR IE MR Fr B G 98 HIATT ©

to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures for EREEERENFESRIBEPER -

recovery of amounts due. Any subsequent recovery is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to determine whether there
is any indication that its property, plant and equipment and
investment properties may be impaired or impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as an income
in profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RE M BHERME
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL 2. REEERTESBEE (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency translation HNEBRE
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s AEBEER M BRERMYIIER NIZER

entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency
(“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented, are translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period;

° income and expenses for each income statement and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate;

o all resulting exchange differences arising from the above
translation and exchange differences arising from a
monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment
in a foreign operation are recognised as a separate
component of equity;

° on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation
and a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation
that is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation which does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
recognised in the separate component of equity is re-
attributed to the non-controlling interests in that foreign
operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

on all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

The Group adopts a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a

performance obligation

The nature of services provided by the Group is the rendering of
feeder shipping services, carrier owned container services, sea
freight forwarding agency services and barge services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the services promised
in a contract with a customer and identify as a performance
obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(@  aservice (or a bundle of services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct services that are substantially the same
and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

A service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the
following criteria are met:

(@  the customer can benefit from the service either on its own
or together with other resources that are readily available to
the customer (i.e. the service is capable of being distinct);
and

(b)  the Group’s promise to transfer the service to the customer
is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract
(i.e. the promise to transfer the service is distinct within the
context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised service (i.e.
an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the
customer obtains control of that asset.

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE
2. REEERTESBEE (E)

= 7R ()

BB BEEEREISFEEEAREEFS
Ay Wz ()

# A ERE (E

RA MR - AREFHEP A QA
2 BRI RIS B P HE A T A2 A
BIABMEIE

(@ ERITRM MRS (F—HAMRY) : 3

b) —FRINARB—HKEERATFPEBHEKRRX
— B HY BBl A [R] AR 75

W& A TR RIEERE PR RS
BB H B E

(@) FEFARBRBASZHNERTFRRFARF
ZEMERES N (BIARS A 251
[ R

b) AEERZTPERREHARAESL
H Al GH 0 B 8B (B2 AR 765 1O A o
REHNABTFEBERTR)

Y 7t HE R R

Wk it (Bt) 7S 5 [ 48 35 A% A R B AR 75 (B
EE)EBTEPMEXNBHOEMERER - &
ER (Spt) EPEUSH % & E M EH 2 A
REER -

109



110

EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ 5t A Fi 23w

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group transfers control of a service over time and, therefore,
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over
time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from the rendering of feeder shipping services, carrier
owned container services, sea freight forwarding agency services
and barge services are recognised over time. The Group applies
the output method, i.e. based on contract milestone(s) to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of the
Group’s performance and reliable information is available to the
Group to apply the method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while
it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) in case of credit- impaired financial assets.

Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the
Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at
inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases
and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with
these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration
that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-
use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a
purchase option — in which case depreciation is provided over
the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE
2. REEERTESBEE(E)

HE (&)
EREBA ()
AEERNHEERK A REREAEEERE

ERRE-

ERBEETRRAETIRTE  EFE
&

(@) MHEREBEMNIVLAERE:

b) RFA%A A HIE 2 AT E R (E R E
B ORE KRB T AHEEE

() AEBELANEAMNEEEXSES: K

() AEEHKKEBRAEEE - KEREE
BEMESHAKHEBEEREZHE
{ER R B2 AGR A PIT AR TE AR BEAS T EE £ ROl 5T
A BRIERRFERATIREEFEME
o

Bk EAREERKRAREMNRFTER
EMARREBEFE IHRBEERENE
MEMAEFEHRAE REHRRERREEE
ZEFAERFYR (ABEE /L) RERE
AHRTE (BIFHERE AR SEEEE
MFMAEREREARENHEREEENK
ARBRAEEBITEREERZRE — RN&ZBER
T BREBEEZ G A ERFHAGE
PE) T



EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ it A b 23w
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Leasehold land and Over the unexpired term of leases

buildings
Containers 10 years
Leased properties Over the term of lease
Motor vehicles 5 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of
the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease maodification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@  the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(@

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease,
the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease is
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease
is classified as an operating lease if the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or operating
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the
contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements
in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

As lessor (Continued)

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs
that it is intended to compensate.

Government grants received by the Group mainly represented
incentive grants from the relevant authorities in the PRC in respect
of the provision of sea freight transportation and freight forwarding
services in specific provinces in the PRC with no future service or
other conditions attached. They are recognised as income in profit
or loss when they are approved by and the cash for the grants are
received from the relevant authorities.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Preference shares are
classified as liabilities if they are redeemable at a specific date
or at the shareholders’ option; or if dividend payments are not
discretionary. Preference shares that are not redeemable, or
are redeemable only at the Company’s option; and any dividend
payments are discretionary, are classified as equity.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes)
is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s owners
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares
are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s owners.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement
scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group had no
forfeited contribution available to reduce the contribution payable
in the future years.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group’s entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans
organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans
are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods. The obligation is
calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted
to its present value and after deducting the fair value of any
related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for
the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred tax
arising from initial recognition of goodwill, or other asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of the holding company of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vl a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to Group’s
executive directors for the purpose of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application
of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are
assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience
and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where
appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

(a) Critical judgements made in applying accounting
policies

The Group has entered into usage priority agreements
(the “Usage Priority Agreements”) or the sales & purchase
and supplemental transfer agreement (the “Transfer
Agreements”) for the preferential use on five (2021: three)
vessels with the legal owners of each vessel. According to
the Usage Priority Agreements or the Transfer Agreements,
the legal owners and the Group mutually agreed the
following key terms:

— the Group has the exclusive preferential right to use
these vessels;

— the Group has the preferential right to acquire the
interests or obtain the sales proceeds on disposal
(pre-approval by the Group in advance) of these
vessels; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

Critical judgements made in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

— any transfer, leasing, write-off or pledge of these
vessels have to be approved by the Group in advance.

In accordance with HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and
Equipment” ( “HKAS 16”), the cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

The Group can demonstrate the disposal, transfer, leasing,
write-off or pledge of these vessels have to be pre-
approved by the Group. In addition, the Group can obtain
future economic benefits associated with these vessels
by exercising the exclusive preferential right to use these
vessels to provide logistic services to the customers and
obtain the sales proceeds on disposal of these vessels.
Therefore, the management of the Group considered that
the future economic benefits associated with the exclusive
preferential use of these vessels are expected to flow
to the Group. Accordingly, the aggregate net carrying
amount of these five (2021: three) vessels of approximately
HK$22,120,000 (2021: HK$4,349,000) was recorded under
property, plant and equipment.

In accordance with HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets” ( “HKAS
38”), some intangible assets may be contained in or on a
physical substance. In determining whether an asset that
incorporates both intangible and tangible elements should
be treated under HKAS 16 or as an intangible asset under
HKAS 38, the entity uses judgement to assess which
element is more significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Critical judgements made in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

The management of the Group, based on the terms set out
in the Usage Priority Agreements, the Transfer Agreements
and the actual usage of these vessels, considered that in
substance the Group is able to use these vessels and obtain
future economic benefits through the usage of these vessels
physically as if it was the legal owners throughout the period
covered by the Usage Priority Agreements or the Transfer
Agreements. Accordingly, these vessels are recorded by the
Group as property, plant and equipment under HKAS 16.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()

(i)

Usetul lives of property, plant and equipment

The management determines the estimated useful
lives of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and
functions. The estimated useful lives could be different
as a result of technical innovations which could affect
the related depreciation charges included in profit or
loss.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties

The management determines whether the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and investment
properties are impaired when an indication of
impairment exists. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment, and investment properties, which is
equal to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and the value in use. Estimating the value in use
requires the management to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the property, plant
and equipment, and investment properties, and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment
will be charged to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss
allowance for trade receivables by using various
inputs and assumptions including but not limited to
risk of default. The estimation involves high degree of
uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade receivables. Details of the
key assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL
are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Identification of lease

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on
the requirements of HKFRS 16 and all the relevant
facts and circumstances. In particular, the Group
assesses whether the contract involves the use of an
identified asset by applying the concept of substantive
substitution right. Also, the Group assesses whether
the Group or the customer has the right to direct
the use of the identified asset with reference to
determination of which party has the decision-making
rights that are most relevant to changing how and for
what purpose the asset is used. In cases where such
decisions are predetermined, the right to operate the
asset or the incorporation of such decisions by means
of designing the asset are considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

V)

(vi)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business, where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impair the
income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in
which such determination is made.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue from feeder shipping services,
carrier owned container services, sea freight
forwarding agency services and barge services are
recognised over a period of time based on contract
milestone(s). The management has to assess the
relevancy of milestone(s) for each type of contract
with customer in order to determine the recognition
point(s) of revenue. The recognition of revenue is
therefore owning to the inherent risk associated with
the management’s judgement.

v)

(V)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the
Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates '

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction '

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts '

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application as HKFRS 17 and HKFRS
9-Comparative Information

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 2

Amendment to HKAS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
8 The effective date to be determined

The management does not anticipate that the adoption of these
new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material
impact on the financial performance and financial position of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating
decision-makers. The executive directors review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating segments
based on these reports.

The executive directors assess the performance of the Group’s
business from a route perspective for the feeder shipping services,
the carrier owned container services and the barge services and a
collective perspective for sea freight forwarding agency services.

Segment results represent the gross profit earned or gross loss
incurred by each segment without allocation of other income,
administrative and other operating expenses, finance costs and
income tax expenses.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
segments is presented as it is not regularly provided to the chief
operating decision-makers for review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL e MWK
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. oEHER(E)
Sea freight
forwarding
agency Fujian Guangxi  Guangdong Hainan
services routes routes routes routes  Unallocated Total
BLEE
RER®% BEMS BEEME BERME BEME KB st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FéErx FHEx FE Fhx Férx Férx FiErx
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE202F12A31ALEE
Revenue from external customers REMPEF Y& 89,518 93,044 277,696 107,215 88,045 - 655,518
Cost of senvices BREAA (75,665) (66333)  (238,884) (89,135) (81,691) - (551,708
Segment resuts APLE 13,853 26,711 38,812 18,080 6,354 - 103,810
Unallocated income and expenses KA EDRAREZ
Other income 2 A 11,859
Administrative and other TBRREMEERE
operating expenses (80,835)
Finance costs BEMR (1,938)
Profit before tax B ART 32,896
Income tax expenses FEHAR (5,254)
Profit for the year EREF 27,642
Other information AtEH
Depreciation of property, nE - BERRENE
plant and equipment - 589 1,531 1,606 563 4,662 8,951
Depreciation of investment properties  R&MEHE - - - - - 2,590 2,590
Lease payments under RHAEET RERT
short-term leases - 16,412 16,910 5,299 29,892 363 68,876
Capital expenditures EUNERY - - - 10,928 - 1,439 12,367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

REMBHRRME

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R

& Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

3. ZHMEH(F&)

Sea freight
forwarding
agency Fujian Guangxi  Guangdong Hainan
services routes routes routes routes  Unallocated Total
BLEE
RERHS BEfE ERfE BRI BEfE RAR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FiEr FiEr FiEr FiET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE021F12A31B1LEE
Revenus from external customers RENE P e 78,274 61,409 214,961 78,280 56,040 - 488 964
Cost of senvices BBRA (65,427) G235  (170,799) (68,393 (50,260) S 4o7.031)
Segment results PEHEE 12,847 9,057 44,162 9,887 5,780 - 81,733
Unallocated income and expenses A ERAREE
Qther income A 19,757
Administrative and other THRREME RS
operating expenses (73,912
Finance costs BERA (1,076)
Profit before tax BEAnE 26,502
Income tax expenses FEHAR (3.719)
Profit for the year FEEMN 22,783
Other information AtEH
Depreciation of property, nE BEREENE
plant and equipment - 361 1,060 1,387 340 5,162 8,310
Depreciation of investment properties  R&MEHE - - - - - 2,818 2,818
Lease payments under RHAEET RERT
short-term leases - 12,332 26,564 7,207 13,043 726 59,872
Capital expenditures EXRY - - - - - 1,395 1,395
Deposits for acquisition of property, ~ WENE - BERRE 2 S
plant and equipment - - - 10,541 - - 10,541
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
investment properties (the “Specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of the Specified non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the assets (in the case of vessels, the
location at which they are registered and operated).

FEMBERRME
BHE2022F 1231 HIFFE
3. oWEHR(E)

it EE R

TREIAEEYE - BB RREARKE
ME(EEFRRBDEE]) BAEMEIDHE
e B ERBEENMEBREENER
fEE D (MAMM  BIREFEM R EE
WD) o

Specified non-current assets EEHFREBEE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FE T
Hong Kong B 135,889 143,881
The PRC H 39,237 31,135
175,126 175,016

Information about major customers EBRFEEFHNER

Details of the entities individually accounting for 10% or more
of aggregate revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

RE E2022%F K2021 12 A31B L FE -
ERMEREBY2E10% A 2 BB nm
T

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FEIT

Customer A and its affiliated companies EEAREBEBERA 82,190 64,245
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REMBHRRME

& Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

REVENUE 4. &=
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FA&T
Revenue from contracts with customers BBV B HREERE 155 EHEA
within HKFRS 15, recognised over time KREEFE OB - B
EBER
Rendering of feeder shipping services R TSRS 490,516 361,739
Rendering of carrier owned container services 12 i #E A B & %4 iR 75 75,040 47,709
Rendering of sea freight forwarding agency 1218 F & E K 12 iR
services 89,518 78,274
Rendering of barge services RHLE M AR 444 1,242
655,518 488,964
OTHER INCOME 5. HWA
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHAET
Bank interest income HRITHAEWA 230 110
Dividend income & B A 164 -
Exchange gain, net PE e - JFEE 436 -
Net (loss) gain on financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABENTBEE
(Note 16) 0 (& 18) Was F 58 (fat 16) (1,415) 276
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - KERZBEH S
plant and equipment - 554
Government grants (Note i) BT Bh (B ati) 9,758 17,007
Government subsidies (Note ii) BT AL (B atii) 888 -
Sales of scrap containers HEREESRMA 489 343
Sundry income HEIFUA 1,309 1,467
11,859 19,757

Note:

(i)

These government grants were mainly the incentives for rewarding the
Group’s efforts in stabilising container shipping capacity and laden containers,
and were in the sole discretion of the local government, subject to relevant
PRC laws, regulations and policies. Under the terms of grants, the Group has
to fulfill certain containers shipping volume.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has received funding
support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic
Fund, set up by The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise be made
redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on
paying wages to the employees.

(i

BB 2R REAEERNIZE R KMEHER
AR ESEEBEHEMEENBDHE  ditT R
Fe#RERY > YARHEBTEER ERRK
RAARE - RBZSHIER  ARBREERETE
KRMKESR -

HZE2022F12A31HILFE - AEEESEBR
AITHEBRFE OB ENEES R E] T2
BB RBEHMMBENER AT EREMBEIE -
NBERATERABRNE T - RIBFEDHIER A&
EEEBHEATEHE  WEMEEHARZ R
BWIE-
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBLANZEF
This is stated after charging (crediting): AN (BFA) T3S HEZSER -
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Finance costs L& R A
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings FTEEREF A 1,840 936
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEARNRMEEA 98 140
1,938 1,076
Other items Hihig g
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) & TAUZN (£ 355 H 5 EM)
Salaries, bonus and allowances & - (B4 MEBL 47,220 40,262
Contributions to defined contribution plans TERE KA B (M 7E)
(Note) 4,487 4,254
51,707 44 516
Auditor’s remuneration %2 6 57 B 840 820
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- BEREREBITE
equipment (charged to “Cost of services” GTATRIBAA] R
and “Administrative and other operating (7T I E A 48 2 5 7 |
expenses”, as appropriate) (RfEEA)) 8,951 8,310
Depreciation of investment properties WEYEITE 2,590 2,818
Exchange (gain) loss, net W (W) BiE - 558 (436) 801
Lease payments on feeder vessels and EHHERETI MR
barges under short-term leases BREENR
(charged to “Cost of services”) GEATARIEACA]) 68,513 59,146
Lease payments on premises under HEHEEBE TEAMNEENK
short-term leases 363 726




134

EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ 5t A Fi 23w

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

Note:

The Group has participated in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at the rates specified in the rules.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, there will not be
any forfeited contribution available to reduce the contribution payable by the Group.

In accordance with rules and regulations in the PRC, the employees of the Group’s
entities established in the PRC are required to participate in defined contribution
retirement plans organised by local government. Contributions to those plans are
expensed as incurred and other than these monthly contributions and the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of the retirement benefits to its employees. No
forfeited contributions were used to reduce the current year’s level of contributions
and no forfeited contribution was available at 31 December 2022 and 2021 to
reduce future year’s contributions.

The retirement benefits cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
Scheme and the defined contribution retirement plans in the PRC.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R

e BRRME
& Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

6. PFRBiADRF ()

Bt

AEBEABRBAERER2ERYEAEDF & ([38E
BETE]) - BB EIIRIBE R BRI AR ST 4D
MRGEATESHEERBEM - RESHEZEETA
BIUGEHAZN 2 ESRE YHAKEZEEDH R
BRBESHEARE BREIRAEREASERRERALL
KEZatEMER MR - AEBNBESHEETZHE—&
ERBREZTEELAFZHR - REBESHE - HER
Y2 S B SR T P SRR AN = [ FE A K o

RIEP BB RARG - NEERBBEK N EEETE
BAZ NG E BT ZENTERHICRIRG S - ZE5E
ZHERREERIH BT AELEIIN - AEBBEER
& B AR 8 FI # Ho A B AT - R AR B AR R W 53K
AR FEEEEFOKTE - LA A 2022 F 12021 12 A 31 A
IR AT AR IR AR SR FE AR o

REBEHNBRAERARENK AR A EERBRES S RF
FERHFURRET BIRO AR R A3 € ML R A% F AT 8IS /9

HK -
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7. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 7. EER/ANEHR
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) EZEHH
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received or ARrlEZE ([E5]) B Yk e s &
receivable by the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) BEH N T

are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F 12831 BILFEE

Contributions
to defined
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary contribution
fees allowances bonus plans Total
mEEMLR
STEEHM
ESHe HERER A (i3 @it
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HITEE
Lau Yu Leung flme - 3,900 4,000 - 7,900
Lau Tak Fung Wallace Ee - 2,054 632 18 2,704
Lau Tak Kee Henry AEd - 1,859 572 18 2,449
Non-executive director FHTEE
Tong Hung Sum S 585 - 135 - 720
Independent non-executive =~ BV HHTEE
directors
Lo Wan Sing Vincent B85 120 - - - 120
Lam Lo s 120 - - - 120
Lee Ka Lun FRB 200 - - - 200
Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk HE&E 120 - - - 120
1,145 7,813 5,339 36 14,333
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7.

Year ended 31 December 2021

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

FEMBERRME
BHE2022F12 31 HIFFE
7. EEEMNNER(8)

(a) E=&HM (&)
HE2021F 1231 HILFE

Contributions
to defined
Directors’  Salariesand  Discretionary  contribution
fees allowances bonus plans Total
Ehat:las
ATEIELA
B2l HeRkEE [lEpan {3 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET BT FHET FET
Executive directors HiTEE
Lau Yu Leung Z@mE - 3,900 3,000 - 6,900
Lau Tak Fung Wallace Ay - 1,794 414 18 2,226
Lau Tak Kee Henry Z=H - 1,509 369 18 1,986
Non-executive director FHTEE
Tong Hung Sum ERR 520 - 80 - 600
Independent non-executive =~ BUHHITEE
directors
Lo Wan Sing Vincent E)5 R 120 - - - 120
Lam Lo i 120 - - - 120
Lee Ka Lun FRB 200 - - - 200
Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk HiElgE 120 - - - 120
1,080 7,293 3,863 36 12,272

Mr. Lau Tak Fung Wallace is also the chief executive officer
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
included those for services rendered by him as the chief
executive officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

BIREEENMBARB ZITHAR -
EXFBEEsMEC BRBIERITHRE
BRMHRGAE M

REE2022F %2021 F12 A31 B IEF
EHE  AEEREMZEES I MHE
BN - 1EARSIHE AN ARE
] Iy 1 42 B ol B B A (B o B 22022
FR2021F12A3IBILFEE HES
EREXFEREEAFHIOLHE -
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7. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of Directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour
of the Directors or their controlled companies that were
entered into or subsisted during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company, or an entity connected with the director,
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the year or at any time during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

There was no consideration provided to or receivable by any
third party for making available the services of a person as a
Director, or in any other capacity while as a Director during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

REMBERRME
BlE2022F 12 H31 HIFFE
7. EBERANER (&)
(b) ANESHZRANER EEX

(c)

(d)

REMRS

HE2022F {2021 12 A31 B IEFE
€ WETTSRIMAERNIUNEFHF
EXENTABIZEAZER EERK
HEMR5 -

EERRE  ZHIAESHNHZE
E

BARGAE TS RERMF20NFTIEEE
G o 15E 4 5T 37 A B 2 2022 F F 2021 4F
12A31BILFEYETEREREE
20225 N 202112 A 31 B I F Z HifS
R E DR ER - HAREE 2 275
BEA BARREZESRHEEZTHHLN
BER(THEENEE) REFBEEX
RIS BHENREH -

BREMEEREMEOE=ZSXM
MR E

HZE2022F K2021E12 A31 A 1F4
B WERE—BALRENE SRS
(FREETESHEAEML T KRS
s EMEAE= 2 AE -

TEEREHAT
RE E 2022 F 2021412 A 31 B 1 F E &
MR AEEaT ATHONET

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
Director = 3 3
Non-director FESR 2 2
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8.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(CONTINUED)

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-
director individuals are as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

FEMBERRME
BHE2022F12 31 HIFFE
8. mEERESHAL(E)

ERsSHEFEEALHFMFENOT

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances e KOEAh 1,794 1,742
Discretionary bonus BIEIEAL 476 402
Contributions to defined contribution plans M) JE B8 SR AT BB A A 3R 20 36
2,290 2,180

The number of non-director individuals whose emoluments were
within the following emoluments bands:

MEN T TIBENFEEALTABDT

2022 2021

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,00078 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7L £ 1,500,000 7% 7T 2 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid
non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

RE ZE2022F K 2021F 12 A 31 B 1EF [Z B
M AEEMERZSEESFEEFALTX
HEAEHH - EARSIBEFEMARMALRSE
ERMEBXEERGE - REE2022F K&
2021 F12 A1 BIEFE MESRSHIEE
EATHEXBDEREZETAMMSHOTHE -
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9. TAXATION 9. Bl
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Current tax B HA i 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNIEH
Current year RFEE 5,201 3,719
Under provision in prior years BEFERENR 53 -
Total income tax expenses for the year AFEEEHRZ B 5,254 3,719

The group entities established in the Cayman Islands and the BVI
are exempted from income tax.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
assessable profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the
Group (as elected by the management of the Group) was subject
to the two-tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits would be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million would be taxed at 16.5%. The Hong
Kong Profits Tax of other Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries of
the Group was calculated at 16.5% of their respective estimated
assessable profits for the both years, except for one of the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong with estimated assessable profits for
the year ended 31 December 2021 were wholly absorbed by
unrelieved tax losses brought forward from previous years.

SEETRHASHEMNRERZHFEX LA
BERERCHMMEH -

HZE2022F 2021 F12 B31HIEFE * &
EE-—ERESEMA L 2B AR (BAE
EEIEEKE) 2 ERFE IR MR RS =R
HIE B0F - H & 2,000,000 78 7T FE R £ i R 15
LA 8.25% 2 Bt R F » M &2 82,000,000 7T
2 FERRTR i R HE A 16.5% 2 T R FE - K&
EEGMRBEBEIMAL 2B AR —#iRE
ZEERMEFE ZHFTERTEF 216.5%
HEEANGH WEP-—HBEWNBEQA
REE2021F12 A31 B It FE 8RB (EH5TE
REEMN TEHBAFEAENKRE AT E
B 2 BTN -



140

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL mae

STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

9.

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The Group’s entities established in the PRC are subject to
Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC at a statutory rate of 25% for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. For the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, PRC Enterprise Income
Tax has not been provided as the PRC subsidiaries have no

assessable profits.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ 5t A Fi 23w

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

Bt 35 SRR Y

& Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

9. BHE (&)

RE E 20224 K 2021 12 31 B IEFEE -
ANESE PR B AR S ) B B8 B 1R 25% YA TE L
RGN ERE
2021 F 12 A BEFE - ARFRHAWBA
A) N 4 B R B A
Frig i o

i ME E2022F &

ESITa i 3 e SRS 3

FriE®is <Y ik

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHAET
Profit before tax B B A& 32,896 26,502
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% #£16.5% M E AR KT ERNATEH
(2021: 16.5%) (20214 : 16.5%) 5,428 4,373
Effect on graduated tax rate BERE 8 (165) (165)
Non-deductible expenses/losses T BRI i 711 572
Tax exempt revenue/profits BARB S5 F (1,629) (2,009)
Tax effect of tax rate difference of HinahEAREHEEZENTBLE
other jurisdiction (26) (37)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax A SRR ER 2 B IEE A
losses (5) (204)
Unrecognised tax losses RIERBIAEE 228 498
Under provision in prior years BEFERETR 53 -
Others, including unrecognised temporary Hih - BREAERDRIEESE
differences 659 691
Income tax expenses for the year FEMSHEAX 5,254 3,719

Tax exempt revenue/profits mainly included revenue/profits
not taxed in Hong Kong under section 23B of the Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Ordinance for being carriage shipped outside
Hong Kong and the government subsidies received from the

Employment Support Scheme.

BARB M EAEE
Ho e A 3K BB X P AR
{5y 55 23B IR BB ER B By Uk 28, U A R AR B8
[RBL3 | 5T BIUCER RO B AT 6 B

BB BB A
BRBEF B (B
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE20220F 12 A31 HILFZ
10. DIVIDENDS 10. IR E

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
equity holders of the Company is based on the following data:

EEET AEZREAZET2022412 8318 1t
FEIRMNEMRRR B (20214 ¢ ££) -

ZRER
AR AR AR S REART RIS
AT BB

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Earnings ZF|
Profit for the year attributable to the equity ATESRERZFMANART
holders of the Company for the purpose BmEE ARG FE &
of basic earnings per share 27,642 22,783
2022 2021
’000 ‘000
Number of shares BB E Fhi Fh
Weighted average number of ordinary STEEREARBT AN
shares for the purpose of calculating TR ke 9B
basic earnings per share 1,550,000 1,454,110

Diluted earnings per share is same as basic earnings per share as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

HNE E2022F 2021 E12 A31 A IFEE
W BEBEITEINL B RERBERT
BEREREFER -
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12. SUBSIDIARIES 12. B AT

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as

RS HERATMFEDT

follows:
Place and date of Particulars of Effective equity
incorporation/ paid up capital/ interests held by Principal activities/
Name establishment  registered capital the Company place of operation
B3 BrEr/ LUNGESE ST
£ BB A TMERFHE ERRAER TEEE EXLH
Directly Indirectly
BE i
Ever Harvest Investments Limited The BVI US$1 100% - Investment holding/
(“Ever Harvest (BVI)") 16 November 2015 e Hong Kong
XERERRAA RBRAHE REBR/BE
(kg (RBERZES)]) 2015% 11 A 168
Ever Harvest International Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Investment holding/
Holdings Limited 24 December 2015 10,0008 7T Hong Kong
KEBBRERARAR 0 REBR/BE
201512 4241
Greater China Shipping Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% Investment holding/
AHRERBERAA 11 November 2015 17T Hong Kong
0 REBR/EE
2015F 11 A1 A
Ever Harvest Shipping Limited Hong Kong HK$10,002,000 - 100% Rendering of sea freight
(“Ever Harvest”) 11 August 1992 10,002,000 7T transportation and freight
KEMBERRA(KE]) N forwarding services/
1992F8H11H Hong Kong
REELEE
ti@ﬁ&i‘%/ %‘ﬁ%
Xiamen Harvest Shipping Limited Hong Kong HK$100,300 - 100% Rendering of sea freight
(“Xiamen Harvest”) 23 June 1993 100,300/5 7T transportation service/
ELRBERAR 5 Hong Kong
5 52573) 199346 A23 A RIS L EERY/EA
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12. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 12. ft &2 5 (&)

Place and date of Particulars of Effective equity
incorporation/ paid up capital/ interests held by Principal activities/
Name establishment  registered capital the Company place of operation
S BREX/ M NNCTESZ T
18 Bt ERAH TMERFE ERRAESR TEED EEnY
Directly Indlirectly
EBE B
Millions Good Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100% Rendering of barge services/
(“Millions Good”) 11 January 2017 2787 Hong Kong
FTHERAR(HFI) B0 REBHRE/ BB
20171 A 1A
KEEBREE(RI)BERAAS The PRC Renminbi - 100% Provision of freight
(Ever Harvest International 18 October 2004 (“RMB’) 8,000,000 forwarding service/the PRC
Logistics (Shenzhen) Limited) REY ARE(ARE]) RESERERE,/F
2004F10 418 H 8,000,0007T
AT EMRBRARS The PRC’ RMBS8,500,000 - 100% Provision of freight
(Shenzhen Ever Harvest 15 Apri 2002 AR #8,500,0007T forwarding and feeder
Logistics Co., Limited) hE" rental services/the PRC
20024 H15H REEERER I HM
&R,/ +
ATkt YR AR AR The PRC’ RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of freight forwarding
(Shenzhen Forever Harvest 24 July 2013 AR%1,000,0007C consulting/the PRC
Logistics Limited*) HhE" REEEREZNR/ T
20137 H24H
Eternity Hong Kong Investment Hong Kong HK$2 - 100% Properties holding/
Limited (“Eternity HK”) 24 May 2011 2% 7T Hong Kong
BMEEREERAA B BENE/BE
(Mef&s]) 201145R24H
English translation for identification purpose only R R
& Being a company established in the PRC with limited liability & AR WERSIATF
# Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise # AR EBEN Y

Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC

RPBRZEBE B X
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e BRRME
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% - BERRKHE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leased Leasehold Motor fixtures and Leased Owned Feeder
buildings  properties improvements ~ vehicles equipment containers containers vessels Barges Total
HELH & -
kEF HEWE HEEE RE EBERRE HEREE BARER  X5MM £ st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FiET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Reconciliation of carrying  EEEEYK-EHZ
amount — year ended 20215612R831H
31 December 2021 LEE
At 1 January 2021 R2021 51 /18 65,546 2,349 706 4279 303 125 8,463 4,988 14,218 100,977
Additions RE - 762 - 77 57 - - - - 896
Disposals HE - - - - () - (17) (351) - (379)
Transfer from investment BEAREME (Wit15)
properties (Note 15) 7,102 - - - - - - - - 7,102
Depreciation e (2,525) 1,177) (314) (987) (159) (15) (1749) (439) (945) (8310)
Exchange realignments EHRE 27 49 - 7 3 - - 151 - 237
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12 5318 70,150 1,983 392 3,376 199 110 6,697 4,349 13,273 100,529
Reconciliation of carrying SREEBHE-HZ
amount — year ended 202256128310
31 December 2022 JI:3:4
At 1 January 2022 202261 A18 70,150 1,983 392 3,376 199 110 6,697 4,349 13,273 100,529
Additions NE - 1,385 - - 54 - 1,848 19,103 - 22,390
Depreciation HE (2,802) (1,196) (314) (948) (127) (15) (1,336) (1,268) (945) (8,951)
Exchange realignments B A% (34) (79) - (34) - - 13 (64) - (198)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12831 8 67,314 2,093 78 2,394 126 95 7,222 22,120 12,328 113,770
At 31 December 2021 R2021 512318
Cost A 81,385 3,880 1,570 11,007 1,556 147 27,190 12,654 15,950 165,239
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (11,239) (1,897) (1,178) (7,631) (1,357) 87) (20,499) (8,205) (2,677) (54,710)
70,150 1,983 392 3,376 199 110 6,697 4,349 13,273 100,529
At 31 December 2022 R2022512 318
Cost A 81,301 4,306 1,570 10,937 1,413 147 28,555 31,251 15,950 175,430
Accumulated depreciation  2EHHTE (13,987) 2.213) (1,492) (8,543) (1,287) 52 (21,339) (9,131) 8622  (61,660)
67,314 2,093 78 2,394 126 95 7,222 22,120 12,328 113,770
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13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

In January 2021, properties with carrying value of approximately
HK$7,102,000 were transferred from investment properties to
property, plant and equipment upon change of their use as the
Group’s own used properties.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had five (2021: three) vessels
under the Usage Priority Agreements or the Transfer Agreements.
According to the Usage Priority Agreements or the Transfer
Agreements, the Group has the exclusive preferential right to
use these five (2021: three) vessels and to acquire the interests
or obtain the sales proceeds of disposal, which has to be
approved by the Group in advance, of these five (2021: three)
vessels. The Group considers that it, in substance, is able to
use these five vessels and obtain the future economic benefits
through the usage of these five vessels physically as if it was
the legal owners throughout the period covered by the Usage
Priority Agreements or the Transfer Agreements. Accordingly, the
aggregate net carrying amount of approximately HK$22,120,000
(2021: HK$4,349,000) was recorded under property, plant and
equipment. Details of the accounting treatments are set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

13.

M - BE KR (&)

202141 A - BREE4) 47,102,000 JT HY
MECZRAERENAEAEEERAYERZ  B1
BEYEEBBREYE - BEREE -

R2022F 12 A31H  AEBREELFEA
sk E R EES A (20214 - = %)
fafn - BEBEEERABEIERGZE A5
EEAFERZAME (2021F : = /%) MM -
WiEEP RIS N EZ A (2021 F -
=) A (A RESAEEIE) HEAT
BRENBRELE AEBERABEER
BEMFERZ MM ER FFRZAEM
RRETS R SR A W as - AN E B Jo(E R
FREEGREBRBEANBETEHBA -
b WE - BEERRKEZSERAFELARED
22,120,000 7T (2021 4F : 4,349,000,%7T) °
BEHERETENGFE SN GEeMBmEN
FF2e

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. FREEE
Details of the right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and FRAEEE GFAYE BERRE) 255
equipment) are as follow: AR
Leasehold
land and Leased Motor
buildings properties  Containers Vehicles Total
HE+it
kETF HEWE L33 "E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET T
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 831 H
Carrying amount FEE 67,314 2,093 95 2,272 71,774
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12831H
Carrying amount RHE 70,150 1,983 110 3,080 75,323
For the year ended BZE2022512831H
31 December 2022 tFEE
Depreciation e 2,802 1,196 15 808 4,821
For the year ended BZ2021512831H
31 December 2021 LHEE
Depreciation e 2,525 1,177 15 808 4,525
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group leases various leased
properties, containers and motor vehicles for its operation. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of more than 1 to 5 years.
Certain leases of containers and motor vehicles were accounted
for as leases during the years ended 31 December 2022 and the
weighted average effective interest rate on the obligations under
leases was 4% (2021: 5%). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several leasehold land and buildings
and is the registered owner of these property interests, including
the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

At 31 December 2022, leasehold land and buildings with an
aggregate net book value of approximately HK$66,458,000
(2021: HK$69,168,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group (Note 20).

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were situated in Hong
Kong and the PRC under original leases terms between 50 to
70 years. At 31 December 2022, the remaining leases terms of
the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were between 21 to 43
years (2021: 22 to 44 years).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

e BRRME
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

14. EREEE (&)

R 2022 F K 2021612 A31H - KEE A
BZREHEME SHERRENETEE -
Fra]l A EE AHBB1E25F - REE
2022F12A31HILEFE FTFEEMA A
BEAREANE MEERENMETHE
BRI EE4% (2021F 1 5%) - HEGEKIIR
BEEAEmMBTE  EYRE3ETRMK
TR NG - TEEE TE T HA M BT A T AT H8E A B
R AEEERBAANTERTLETALON
SR SR T /Y BARR o

o AEEHRBELHEEELWRET X
REEME ik (EREREE L) MM
BEAN WBEZSWERZHDALIEL—
EBMNK - REERH A S FTE L K
N3E ZSEEMENAELBANT S
BHEY -

MR2022F 12 A31H EEFELEY
66,458,000 7T (2021 4F : 69,168,000% 7T )
2HELHREFERFIEREEERRT
EEZER(MF20) -

AEBMNEELHEREFUREBERTRER -
RIEREEEFHN 502704 2022 4F
12A31H  AEENHEEL W RIEFNG T
FAHAN T 21 2434 (2021 4F : 222 44 4F) o
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REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REWHE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Reconciliation of carrying amount IREENHE

At the beginning of the reporting period R HA ) 63,946 73,367

Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEBEEYE  BELK
(Note 13) (H1z£13) - (7,102)
Additions — subsequent expenditure RNE - B - 499
Depreciation weE (2,590) (2,818)
At the end of the reporting period R E R 61,356 63,946
Fair value AFE 61,700 66,200

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of investment
properties and determined that the recoverable amount from
the use or sale of certain of these assets is still higher than their
carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss needs to be
reflected.

The fair values of investment properties are under level 3 of the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined under HKFRS 13. At
31 December 2022, the fair values of investment properties were
valued by an independent professional qualified valuer, who has
relevant experience in the location and category of the investment
properties being valued, on an open market basis by comparison
approach assuming sale with the benefit of vacant possession or
by making reference to comparable approach sale evidence as
available in the relevant market. Recent sale price of comparable
properties in close proximity adjusted for differences in key
valuation attributes, such as size and age, were used to value
the investment properties. The most significant input into this
valuation approach is the price per square feet.

The fair value measurement was based on the highest and best
use of the investment properties, which did not differ from their
existing use.

EFXCEOAREVEZREE  LREREER
IHEETREFEEEENANEESRDND
REMREE - Bit - BARBBIEERE -

HEWENRFEBRE BV EMELERSE
13T AT = EERAFEEBENE =K -
R2022F 12 A31H I EWENRFER
BYBESERGEEM(FEHEZFHENIRE
MENE RBEHAEHEBLR) ZAMMIS
A% D EZE(BREXEHE) A2 ZHE
MM ELREEFRETHE -HEKR
BY RO & LR YR T AR E(E -
THEBHEFHFIUEERER HEE
ERFAZE - BT EZFREENE ASE
BEFHRER-

AFE B NERNRENEORD B

w MM ERARELEER -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

16.

Leasing arrangement — as lessee

At 31 December 2022, the investment properties consist of
leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong with useful lives of 34
years (2021: 35 years).

The Group owns leasehold land and buildings and is the
registered owner of the property interests, including the underlying
leasehold land. The leasehold land component of the owned
property is presented separately only if the payments made can
be allocated reliably.

The investment properties with a total carrying amount of
approximately HK$61,356,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$63,946,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities (Note
20) granted to the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

e BRRME
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

15. REWE (B)
HMEZRHE — FRAHEA

R2022F 12 A31H  KEMEREEEM
B+ REF  AERFHA34F (2021 4F -
354F) o

AEEHRAHELHNET U R/ZEME
Bn (AEEREEL ) HEMERA R
BERMAISEHEDMELNNRE  ZF
BEMENHEL AN SEB2S -

R2022F 12 A31H BREELN A
61,356,000 7T (2021 4F : 63,946,000% 7T)
MIEEMEE BB URGSAEEERARTT
=8 (K1a20) °

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 16. BAFEFAEBENMKEE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At fair value, held for trading BRAYE BEEERE
Equity investments — listed in Hong Kong BB LMRAEE 6,050 -

The fair values of the equity investments at 31 December 2022
were determined on the basis of quoted market bid price available
on the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period and are
classified as Level 1 under fair value hierarchy.

The movement of the equity investments is analysed as follows:

R2022F 12 A31H AKX E ZAFET
BRBREHRNBE MG MEE ARE
EBE URBEAFESLFEEAFEIR-

BAREZEBHFMT -

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FEor

At the beginning of the reporting period R E A - 5,521
Additions N 7,465 -
Disposals & - (5,797)

Net fair value changes recognised in profit RERBERZ A FEZHFEE

or loss (1,415) 276
At the end of the reporting period R EEIR 6,050 -
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. EZ R E MR WRIE

149

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaE FET FHET
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
From third parties KEE= 75,539 86,233
Less: Loss allowance W BB 17(a) (3,237) (3,237)
72,302 82,996
Other receivables H fih fE W SR 1E
Deposits, prepayments and e BEREUER
other debtors H fth fE Y k18 10,852 24,560
Less: Deposits paid for acquisition of & : ERIEAIERBEER
property, plant and equipment WEEWME - BB &&H
classified as non-current assets Y2 ES - (10,541)
10,852 14,019
83,154 97,015

All of the trade and other receivables that are classified as current
assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense
within 12 months.

17(a) Loss allowance

The loss allowance of approximately HK$3,237,000 (2021:
HK$3,237,000) at 31 December 2022 was mainly and
specifically resulted from a then major customer who was in
the process of bankruptcy and liquidation.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
lifetime ECL for trade receivables as prescribed by HKFRS
9. The Group determines the provision for expected credit
losses by grouping together trade debtors with similar
credit risk characteristics and the days past due and
collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account prevailing economic conditions and other
forward looking information. At 31 December 2022 and
2021, the allowance for expected credit losses is assessed
insignificant.

BN BRRBEENE S M HMEYWHIA
EHRMN12EARKRE SRR/ -

17(a) E5IE#1E

M 2022412 A 31 HA A&2(493,237,000
7T (2021 4F © 3,237,000 7T) 2 518
B TERABRKEER —RBIEETT
WENMEENIEZREP -

REBRBEBYBRELEREIFER
HZBETERE SRR BENEETF
BHEHEEEBELRE AEEE
EEBEEEBREN  BEERBRREF
BEBHARUNE SRKRFIEES A
—4 > R EWE Z AT gElE - B ET
K& BB AR L R A ATRE B R - A
2022 F M 202112 A31 H - B E
E B BB AT RE -
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

17(a) Loss allowance (Continued)

The Group normally grants credit terms up to 90 days (2021:
up to 90 days) to its customers. The ageing analysis of
trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by invoice date is

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R

REMBHRRME

B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

17. EZ R E M RW KA (&)

17(a) EERE (F)
AEB—RBRAEEFERTHRZI0H
(20214 - B2 90H) H{EEH - 1% 3
EAHZIHEHEKFKIE (KRESE

as follows: BE) REROTAOT ¢
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FAET
Within 30 days 30HA 31,513 34,275
31-60 days 31260H 22,172 28,991
61-90 days 61290 H 9,977 14,371
Over 90 days B0 H 8,640 5,359
72,302 82,996

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the

RmEHR BHRKFIA (NERERE

trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by due date is as B BB AERNERSTTOT ¢
follows:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Not yet due R EIH 46,333 59,989
Past due: B
Within 30 days 30HA 16,042 17,955
31-60 days 31Z=60H 4,859 2,822
61-90 days 612 90H 1,617 469
Over 90 days H#iE 90 H 3,451 1,761
25,969 23,007

72,302 82,996
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

17(a) Loss allowance (Continued)

The Group’s trade receivables which are past due at the
end of the reporting period but which the Group has not
impaired as there has not been any significant changes in
credit quality of customers and the management considers
that the amounts are fully recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no history
of default.

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade
receivables.

At 31 December 2022, amount of approximately
HK$5,738,000 (2021: HK$6,729,000) included in the trade
receivables were in connection with invoice discounting
bank loan arrangements (Note 20).

18. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The Group had obtained bank guaranteed facilities granted by
certain creditworthy banks. Such facilities were guaranteed by the
pledged bank deposits. At 31 December 2022, the Group had
utilised HK$741,000 (2021: HK$600,000) of such facilities arising
from bank guarantees issued to suppliers for services provided.

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

17. EZ R E MR RIE (&)

17(a) B ER R (R)

AREREHREHRCBHEL EMFD
HENE S RUKETHREFPNER
B EBEAEY MEEERRTHR
(BEES - C{ER

7R 780 B 5 I 4 ORL B A FE MR TR 2 2 {8 1
RIRRE EE DR EF AR -

RE B HEAE 5 I8 W AR A TAE
Hm e

R2022F 12 A31H - & ZEWRFIEF
#95,738,000 7 7T (20214 : 6,729,000
ABor) 2 FIATEBERIRRITERL
B (Mat20) -

18. EEHBITHER
AEBERESETAEENRITHENRIT
ERME -BHEBENSERBITFEREE
fR o FA2022F 12 A31H  AEBE iRt
AR 7% B) A &b & & 4 741,00078 7T (2021 4F -
600,000 & 7T ) A 44 & 7 3% (1 BRI THE AR ©
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. ESZ R HEHMERTRIE
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
K et FHETT FET
Trade payables B S EARE
To third parties ENE=7 19(a) 85,541 76,157
Other payables Hth E S FRIE
Accrued charges and other creditors FEETE A R E A TR
(Note i) (Krati) 20,575 22,504
Deposits received Bz e 14,414 18,240
Due to a shareholder and ERARAR 2 RER
a non-executive director of FBITESE
the Company (the “Shareholder”) (MRx =) Fx18 19(b) - 5,700
34,989 46,444
120,530 122,601
Note i: The amounts mainly included salary payables and provision of social security Kzt ©BEIXEQERNE S RIZMEHTSRERE -
insurances.
19(a) Trade payables 19(a) B 5 EKIE
The trade payables due to third parties are unsecured, ENE=ZF0NE 5 ENE A
interest-free and have a credit period of 30 days to 90 days. BB RERTFIOEERHEMNEZEH -
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of REREH R IR ZEHHENNE SE
trade payables by invoice date is as follows: NRIEERE SO
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET
Within 30 days 30BN 36,532 42,704
31-60 days 31260H 25,660 16,803
61-90 days 61290H 15,601 12,425
Over 90 days HBiEo0 H 7,748 4,225

85,541 76,157
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

19(b) Amount due to the Shareholder

During the year 2020, the Group acquired Eternity HK and
the unpaid consideration to Shareholder and the Ultimate
Controlling Party are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and should due on the day falling on the first
anniversary of the completion date of the acquisition (i.e.
December 2020). During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group has settled HK$45,200,000 and
HK$5,100,000 to the Ultimate Controlling Party and the
Shareholder respectively. The balance due to the Ultimate
Controlling Party was fully settled and the Group had
agreed with the Shareholder to extend the due date of the
remaining balance to May 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
fully settled HK$5,700,000 to the Shareholder.

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

19. E5 K H &M IR (&)

19(b) B RERFKIEA

MR2020F  AEEKBEMEL M
MR EEERTORENREBE
BZHE  EEF 28 RERKES
HAZE HH (B12020F12 8) m— B F
EHRBHIAEHE2021F12H31H
IEFE AEEEDRIR&EIER A &
fi% 5 {& 38 45,200,000 7% 7T X 5,100,000
B BN REIZERFEHRBEEE M
REBERRESHESBAEFEES
2022F5 H o

HE2022F12A31BIEFE A& H
2 A IR B E (B 5,700,000 7T °

20. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 20. ;T EEBR
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Secured bank borrowings: BHEMIRITERK
Current portion BIERER 64,584 69,662
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20. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

U

(i)

Bank borrowings of approximately HK$5,738,000 (2021:
HK$6,729,000) bear interests at Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 1.7% per annum (2021: HIBOR
plus 1.875% per annum) and are wholly repayable within
one year since inception. The bank borrowings are secured
by trade receivables of approximately HK$5,738,000 (2021
HK$6,729,000) in connection with invoice discounting bank
loan arrangements (Note 17).

A bank borrowing of approximately HK$12,000,000 (2021:
HK$14,000,000) bears interest at HIBOR plus 1.7% per
annum (2021: HIBOR plus 1.7% per annum) and is wholly
repayable within one year since inception. The bank
borrowing is secured by the leasehold land and buildings
and investment properties of the Group of aggregate
net carrying amount of approximately HK$66,458,000
(2021: HK$69,168,000) and HK$61,356,000 (2021:
HK$63,946,000) respectively (Notes 14 and 15).

A mortgage loan of approximately HK$20,416,000 (2021:
HK$21,417,000) bears interest at the lower of HIBOR
plus 1.25% per annum and the Hong Kong Dollar Prime
Rate minus 2.7% per annum respectively (2021: lower
of HIBOR plus 1.25% per annum and the Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate minus 2.7% per annum), and is wholly
repayable over five years. The mortgage loan is secured
by the leasehold land and buildings and investment
properties of the Group of aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately HK$66,458,000 (2021: HK$69, 168,000) and
HK$61,356,000 (2021: HK$63,946,000) respectively (Notes
14 and 15).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £
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B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

20. T EEX (E&)

U)

(i)

B BL4)5,738,0008 T (2021 4 -
6,729,000/8 ) Z R1TiEKIL B B RTT
B2 8 ([HIBORJ) 111.7% (2021 4F :
HIBOR#11.875% ) 2 E M &E 5+ 8 + WA
BFGBE—FRBEEE - ZBITER
T ERIRIRITE RN LB A
5,738,000 7T (2021 4 - 6,729,000 %
JL) 2 B S RUGRIE (Mt 17) {EIR# -

B E #12,000,000% 7T (2021 4F :
14,000,000% 7T) 2 R 17 {8 FE HIBOR
01.7% (20214 : HIBORN1.7% ) 2
FREFBE WEEBRABRE—FRR
HER ZRTERDAREFESL
%5 9> Bl 466,458,000 7T (2021 4 :
69,168,000% ;t) } 61,356,000 # 7T
(2021 4 : 63,946,000/%7T) 7 7~ % BT
EXWRIEFURIEEDE (Wit 14 1
15) YR ©

B8 %20,416,000/8 T (2021 4F -
21,417,000&C) 2 12 B8 E F 5 5l %
HIBOR 1 1.25% £2 & JT & 8 2 Fl =
W2.7% (LAE K& B Y%E) (2021 F - &
HIBOR /i1 1.25% £ % T #= (8 8 FI| & &
2.7% (AEKIEE BE)) 2 FFEETE -
WERAFUEBHEERE ZLBE
ST LABRESHE % 5 5l #7 66,458,000
BT (20214 1 69,168,000% 7T) M
61,356,000/ JT (2021 4 : 63,946,000
Br) 2 AEBHE LW REFURK
BYE (W14 1 15) VEIER o
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20. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

(iv) A term loan of approximately HK$26,430,000 (2021:
HK$27,516,000) bears interest at the 1 month HIBOR
plus 1.75% per annum (2021: 1 month HIBOR plus 1.75%
per annum), and is wholly repayable over five years. The
term loan is secured by the leasehold land and buildings
and investment properties of the Group of aggregate
net carrying amount of approximately HK$66,458,000
(2021: HK$69,168,000) and HK$61,356,000 (2021:
HK$63,946,000) respectively (Notes 14 and 15).

All the borrowings are with a clause in the terms that gives the
lender an overriding right to demand repayment without notice at
its sole discretion, is classified as current liabilities even though
the management does not expect that the lender would exercise
its rights to demand repayment.

The range of effective interest rates on the interest-bearing
borrowings was 2.1% to 7.1% (2021: 1.4% to 2.2%) per annum.
All the interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in HKS.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had banking facilities totalling
approximately HK$119,846,000 (2021: HK$122,417,000) and
undrawn amounts under these banking facilities of approximately
HK$55,262,000 (2021: HK$52,755,000).

e RRME
& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

20. st EEM (F&)

(v) A B 426,430,000 T (2021 4 :
27,616,000% L) 2 FE BAE ik 1@ A
HIBOR M1 1.75% 2 & F| & (2021 4F © 1
18 A HIBOR 11 1.75% .2 F FI| &) 5t 8. -
WEREFULEBRBEE - ZTHE
T LABRE SHE L% 5 5l £166,458,000
T (20214 1 69,168,000& T) &
61,356,0007% 7T (2021 4F . 63,946,000
Br) 2 AREERE L REFUARE
B (HTet 14 % 15) VIR o

FrEEBRAM S —HEGER ERXRTHELE
RN 2RRBERERMBASZ LB
AulnBErsndaE BEERERNE
RO N EITEEENEIER -

AEEFNEERFMNENT21%9E27.1%
(20214 : 1.4% F2.2%) - i At BB RS
LABTTEHE °

R2022F 12 H31H  AEBEBRITHES
H#7119,846,0007% 7T (2021 F : 122,417,000
BIL) RZERITHREE NARISHEY
55,262,000 78 I (2021 4F : 52,755,000,87T) °
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES
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21. HESE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Lease liabilities HEAE
Current R ED 1,287 1,543
Non-current IEMED 1,047 1,171
2,334 2,714

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$70,654,000 (2021: HK$61,792,000).

Commitments under leases

The Group was committed to lease contracts in relation to feeder
vessels and leased properties that have not yet commenced. At
31 December 2022, the related lease payments that were not
paid and not reflected in the measurement of lease liabilities were

61,792,000;87T) °

HEEE

% /2,602,000 7T (2021

approximately HK$2,602,000 (2021: HK$20,254,000). JT) °

22. DEFERRED TAXATION

22, EFEF1E

HE2022F12A31BHIEFE - HEES
48 %E 4 /70,654,000 7T (2021 4F -

AEBRIEFAMIEMMEEAEDE X
BRI E AL - N2022F 12 A31H » KT
LirERMNEEaETE 2 BEHEEMNK

4F 1 20,254,000 %

Recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) at the end of the R ERRERNECRIBEE (BE) KK
reporting period represent the following: LARIEE -
Assets Liabilities
BE =R

2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FHET

Depreciation allowance WERE - - (1,500) (1,436)
Tax losses MIAER 1,500 1,436 - -
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EEFHIEEE (BE) 1,500 1,436 (1,500) (1,436)
Offsetting Ei| (1,500) (1,436) 1,500 1,436

Net deferred tax liabilities

ELEHRBREFER - -
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22,

23.

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022, tax losses of approximately
HK$14,222,000 (2021: HK$16,351,000) arising in Hong Kong
have no expiry date under current tax legislation. Deferred tax
asset has not been recognised in respect of the estimated tax
losses of HK$5,130,000 (2021: HK$7,648,000) because it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the Company can utilise the benefits therefrom. The tax losses do
not expire under current tax legislation.

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE
22, EEFIE (1)

R2022F 12831 H - RBEBEENTIER
18 #914,222,000 7% 7T (20214 : 16,351,000
FETL) RIBRITH B AN BB EAE - Bk
5,130,000 7T (20214 : 7,648,000/% 7T) 2
M REEERRELEHBEE  HELRE
EARKRERT AT HARRNE R F =
FrifsE o IRIEIRITRUE - MIBEEY T~ EEE -

SHARE CAPITAL 23. B
2022 2021
No. of shares No. of shares
REEE K& B
’'000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
T FET Fhg FA&T
Authorised: ZEE
Ordinary shares of B EE0.01 T
HK$0.01 each TR 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EBITRERE
At the beginning of the year F4 1,550,000 15,500 1,400,000 14,000
New shares issued upon REmMETHRM
placing (Note) (Kts2) - - 150,000 1,500
At the end of the year for FRGREECO1ET
ordinary shares of B 38
HK$0.01 each 1,550,000 15,500 1,550,000 15,500
Note: Brat

On 27 July 2021 and 14 September 2021, the Company entered into two placing
agreements with the ultimate holding company for the placing of an aggregate
100,000,000 and 50,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company respectively
at a placing price of HK$0.231 per share. The net proceeds raised amounted to
approximately HK$30,580,000 including the offset of relevant transaction cost of
approximately HK$4,070,000 and intended to (i) acquire additional vessel(s); and (i)
increase general working capital of the Group. The placing was completed in August
2021 and September 2021 respectively. These shares rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects.

R202187 A27 A 20219 814 H - AR A HEHHKE
ARG RIBRE ek UBR0.231 B TR EE S
B & & $£100,000,000 % K2 50,000,000 % 78 A &) 37 58
1% o BT & % 69 AT 15 3 F B 40 5 30,580,000 7T (B 5T &
K 84 4B B 22 5 K AR 494,070,000 74 7T) + R AR () W BB B
SHM G RNVENAEEN—REEES -BREETHEDH
B 202148 A 2021 F9 ATEAK « 2 S MMM & 77 H
WA RGN =ZARFHAL -
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e BRRME
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

24, f#fE
24(a) R EE

24. RESERVES
24(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s
Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company’s
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

24(b) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the aggregate amount of
the nominal value of the issued capital of the companies
comprising the Group pursuant to the initial public offering
less consideration paid to acquire the relevant interests (if
any).

profits to statutory reserve in accordance with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations. The statutory reserve can be
used to make up for losses, expand the existing operation
and convert into additional capital.

24(d) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations for consolidation.

controlling interests in prior years.

24(b)

24(d)

AN BRETRARARBRNEEMEX
HEREAEEENERE -RERSE
EEPIRARNREZERAR - 252
BANDKTARRKRR  EARBER
EAXNAREKBRETIHEMNNE
& o

BB
BAREERBERAMEESEKRAE
Bz ARDBHITRAEEBEARE  BILK
BHAERDSMNREM@mAE) -

24(c) Statutory reserve 24(c) EEREE
The Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC have REBERFEK 2B RARERESR
appropriated a total of 10% of their accumulated after-tax BB B AR ARG E 2T AN HERE

Z10% BIEEERE - AEFE A AR
HEEE BEAREREEBLELR
B INE R o

BE 5 i 8

(XA EELRARERINERTS
WRAMELENMEINEEZRE -

24(e) Other reserve 24(e) Hftf#E
The other reserve represents the difference between HEmFEEBTFEAME  ANEBERKE
the carry amounts of the non-controlling interests in a —MHM B AR FEIEREENRE &5 H
subsidiary now comprising the Group and the fair value of W2 IR TRENATF
the consideration paid for the acquisition of the entire non- EmEzHNESE-
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25. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

25 REELANRE

159

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Profit before tax Bk 7 B 4 A 32,896 26,502
Bank interest income HRITH B WA (230) (110)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - iR K& & HITE 8,951 8,310
Depreciation of investment properties HEMERE 2,590 2,818
Dividend income from financial assets at FVPL %A {ET A Bz
M EENREKA (164) -
Exchange difference ME =58 (629) 2,833
Finance costs B & KA 1,938 1,076
Net loss (gain) on financial assets at FVPL ERAFEFABSNYBEEN
B4 (Yeas) SR 1,415 (276)
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BERZBEH R
plant and equipment - (554)
Changes in working capital HBEeH
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E b E R GRTE 13,987 (32,274)
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E A ER A 3,210 17,081
Cash generated from operations KEEENES 63,964 25,406
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26. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, information of the connected/related
party transactions is set out below.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

REMBHRRME

B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE
26. EBENBEEBIRS

B4R & B 755 R 3R EL A 3B 10 AT 3% BR P B 2= 2022
¢&2o21¢12ﬂ31 AIEFERETHR
5/ BRI BE BB AIRSNE—FE
BHER T o

Remuneration for key management personnel (including the REBEXTZEBEAB (BREES) WEHH -
Directors) of the Group:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Directors’ fees =20 1,145 1,080
Salaries, bonus and allowances e TR FOERL 16,446 13,284
Contributions to defined contribution M) € BB SR RET B/ 9 3K
retirement schemes 74 72
17,665 14,436
Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 7 EHESHHNE L EFNESHBHR
to the consolidated financial statements. KT -
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH 27. BE&EREZHIMER

27.
FLOWS

Except for the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group had
the following major non-cash transactions:

(@) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into lease arrangements in respect of leased
assets with a total capital value at the inception
of leases of approximately HK$1,385,000 (2021:
HK$762,000).

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
deposits for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment amount of HK$10,023,000 was used to
settle for the acquisition of vessel.

BRANER A M B R A B D PRI R D -
RAFE  AEERUATEEIEERS :

(@ FEFREXRS

() @izozzimﬂmaﬁi
B AEBFTLHEERHE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁé%ﬁ%ﬁ'ﬂﬁéﬁqé$%@@%@ﬁ
1,385,000/ 7T (2021 4F : 762,000
BB EEE -

(i) BZE2022F12A831BILFE -
WEME BELEENT 2
10,028,000 7 7T 2 F 1E S 1+ W B
MBI RE -
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27. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The movements during the years in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities are as follows:

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

27. B RE 2K MER (F)

(b) MEEFDHELZEBEHRKR

AEBREEHEL T ABRENT

BT

Non-cash changes

E3 R L)
At At
1 January Net Exchange 31 December
2022 cash flow Addition difference 2022
R2022F BeRE 2022
1A18 T & EREE 124310
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2022  EHZE2025 12831 HILEE
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEER 69,662 (5,078) - = 64,584
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,714 (1,680) 1,385 (85) 2,334
72,376 (6,758) 1,385 (85) 66,918
Non-cash changes
FReEE
At At
1 January Net Exchange 31 December
2021 cash flow Addition difference 2021
2021 F RenE R 20214
1A1H FHE il ERLER 12 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FHET
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZ2021F12A31HILEE
Interest-bearing borrowings HEER 45,251 24,411 - - 69,662
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,683 (1,780) 762 49 2,714
48,934 22,631 762 49 72,376

161



162

EVER HARVEST GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 7k %45 [ ¥ 5t A Fi 23w
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ma
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

B RS R M EE
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. IXEMEEBEERBEE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVPL,
interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
instruments such as trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables which arise directly from its business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
price risk. The Group does not have any written risk management
policies and guidelines. However, the management generally
adopts conservative strategies on its risk management and limits
the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum level as follows:

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with
majority of business transactions being denominated in HK$, US$
and RMB.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the respective group entities and therefore, exposed to foreign
currency risk. The net carrying amounts of those financial assets
and liabilities are analysed as follows:

AEBENTIEVBIABREEEMRITER
RITEHRERE  BAFEFABRZNINB
BE FEEFUREEAG -ZFEWHKT
AENEFEENNAAKENZEEERRER
B AKEAEZHAEMPBTAE WBSH
R Bl EUGGRIA A I B 5 I E b FE A 5B
TREEKESPERES -

AEBEFETAMEENEZRER BINER
B EERR - ABE2RR  FIXRRK
EREE - ﬁEIIMEH%XmHA“
B KB - FEE - RERMARTH
REEERR I%$ElWi L 75 T FT A
EORBREERE @AW T -

SNEE R

AEEBTFZREFERTELE ¥BRXFT
2B ETMARYEE -

AEBBEETYVBEELRMBAGBAMRBE
ERRINREEE SN ERERTE - B E
INERK - ZEMBEAERABNEREFE
DI ¢

2022 2021
Financial assets (liabilities), net HK$’000 HK$’000
MREE(BE)  FE FET FET
us$ ETT 24,248 11,229
RMB AR (13,804) (2,707)

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged with US$, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the US$/HK$
exchange rates.

e 4 8 7B 2 7T B S 4040 - (R 4 4 B 9
£/ BAEETEAEMEAS
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. BiIKEKREEREBERBEER (&)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, if exchange rate of RMB had
depreciated/appreciated against the functional currencies of the
respective group entities by 5% (2021: 5%) and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit before tax would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$690,000 (2021: approximately
HK$135,000) as a result of changes in the carrying amount of
these assets and liabilities.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the
changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to Group’s exposure
to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because
the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect
the exposure during the reporting period.

ShuE L B (48)

RBERR WARB L IEREREBIAE
B RE REZ(EFHES% (2021 4F : 5%)
METEEMBERFRE  ARNEENKRE
MEFBERAZEEERABNERAES

i 4 70, & 2 49690,000% TT (2021 4F : 4
135,000;%7T) °

EHBRENNE  DRREZTZEHNER
SHREL BEBEHEARAEERR
ZEFENSEMNETAMEENEERER
BFEEMEH(LERNE) #RHTE -

FiEHAEEEHEERENEE T —M@
945 HIOR AT AL AR M0 & TR B BT -

BEERR  SREDITHETA M INE R R
WEARN - RE RN &SRS S8R R
NBE R BRI R & B A P E S RO LR
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors will default on their
obligations to repay the amounts due to the Group, resulting in
a loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is mainly attributable
to trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by
selecting counterparties with reference to their past credit history
and/or market reputation. The Group’s maximum exposure to the
credit risk is summarised as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3R

e BRRME
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

28. MBEAREEERRBE (&)

FERR

EERBREEHARERBITHERERMNAE
BREET ERAKERZERMER -
AEENEERRIEREE S MEMER
RE CERRTEARRITEHRIAS -
AEBEEHFIREL2EEBEERLE
R/ misBE EABREM@ENEER
o AREEHNREEERRBIINT

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade and other receivables 5 Kk H b FEYRIA 80,454 94,882
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITHER 811 662
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 147,991 123,821

229,256 219,365
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Balance with financial institutions

The management considers the credit risk in respect of pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash is minimal because
the counter-parties are authorised financial institutions with high
credit ratings.

Trade receivables

The Group trades with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk at trade receivables is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an
individual credit rating assessment which is mainly based on the
Group’s own trading records.

The Group customer base consists of a wide range of clients
and the trade receivables are categorised by common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for
trade receivables and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at the end of the reporting period, based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk as approximately 12% (2021: 18%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer, and
approximately 38% (2021: 45%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s five largest customers.

Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low credit risk
based on the debtors’ strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default,
therefore, the credit risk associated with other receivables is
minimal. No loss allowance was recognised for both years.

e RRME
& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

28. MBEAREEERRBE (&)

52 7 75 B AR MY AT Bk

ERERA ARXZUTFRAAREET
MERACHEE AL EHAESERRITE
FARBITERRREOEERBIEE -

B2 EWRKE
AEBEANBEREENE=ZTETRS °
AEBOBRERABERLAEEBRIETR
ZNEPHABBEERZERFT

AEEESRUFENEERREZXER
FENNBEBAEZE AERBETIEZRERY
MR ZEBETENEFPNEENE  ALE
U EPMEEER -

AEBEFPEAZETEPANK &5 RUK
HRARRRBEOE  BREBBEAREP
BANBRRIN A MRIARNEE D - K&
BB EIEATEE 5 R ESAENTAEIE
EEE REEBEEERBELRRSHRE
HANEEFENAREERIRER SRR
B YHEBARENAEERZREER
BELHE -

MR2022F 12 A31H BRNE 5 ERFIARL
Fh#412% (20214 - 18% ) B FEW AN £
BARF  UKRE S EWGKIALEE T 438%
(20214 : 45%) REWAEBRAREF -
rEBHESETEERR -

Htt e 5 H

AEERR AREBABREENNED
NENEANBRESREEERENRLERIE
Hip e BN EERREE - FitEE A
FRFENEERRERERE - XREF
B EmAER B R -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility. The Group has no specific policy for

managing its liquidity. The undiscounted contractual maturity
profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

e BRRME
B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

28. MBEAREEERRBE (&)

REE SRR
AEBENERAEESRHEEREREZMH
REFE AEEYESERREEER
B2 AKEYBABRZTHREARRES
HIARBEIRFIRIE L B R BEIR B W BB D AT 451

period, based on contractual undiscounted payments, is FaAR
summarised below:
Total
Total contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1 year or on
amount cash flow demand 1-2 years 2-5 years
BHRRR SME
FHEE RERELH REETK 1-2F 2-5%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET FET
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12831A8
Trade and other payables B RAMENTR 103,511 103,511 103,511 - -
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,334 2,413 1,344 776 293
Interest-bearing borrowings T B (A7)
(Note) 64,584 64,584 64,584 - -
170,429 170,508 169,439 776 293
At 31 December 2021 2021 F12 A31H
Trade and other payables BSREMENFE 97,508 97,508 97,508 - -
Lease liabilities HEaRE 2,714 2,836 1,629 893 314
Interest-bearing borrowings T B &R (A7)
(Note) 69,662 69,662 69,662 - -
169,884 170,006 168,799 893 314

Note: The amounts repayable under certain bank loan agreements that include a
clause that gives the banks unconditional rights to call the loans at anytime
are classified under the category of “Less than 1 year or on demand”.
However, the management does not expect that the banks would exercise
such rights to demand repayment and thus, the borrowings, which included
the related interest, would be repaid according to the below schedule as set
out in the loan agreements.

Krat - REE TRITBERBHATEEZFKERE —HK
o BT RITE RN R BE R 2 OE R Ak
EREDIA L1 FREER]ER - Ay - &
EEEHRITTETEZSENESER - Hit
ERER(BEEBTE) SEBEXRBEMET
Bl R RIE K -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

e RRME
& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

28. MBEAREEERRBE (&)

REE & B b (4)

Note: (Continued) Hiet - (88)

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHE
Less than 1 year or on demand DI F e EESK 21,191 23,918
1-2 years 124 3,327 3,189
2-5 years 2-5F 9,982 9,566
Over 5 years 54 F 39,500 40,825
74,000 77,498

Interest rate risk == = b

The management considers that in the Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the HIBOR
or Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate arising from the Group’s variable
interest rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2022, if the HIBOR or Hong Kong Dollar Prime
Rate had been 1% higher or lower while all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s profit for the year would decrease or
increase by approximately HK$646,000 (2021: HK$697,000).

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk because of the
exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

Price risk

The Group was exposed to price risk arising from listed
equity investments classified as financial assets at FVPL in the
consolidated financial statements. The sensitivity analysis had
been determined based on the exposure to price risk.

At 31 December 2022, if the market price had been 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit before tax would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$303,000, due to change in the fair value of the listed equity
investments.

The stated changes represented management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in relevant market price over the
year until the end of the next reporting period.

EEERR AKBEZRERANERARTIE
SRR AEE T SMEREL ZHBORHE T
REBN XK -

2022612 431 8 * HHIBOR I T & &
BAREMSER 1% MAEHMEE A
BAE IAEEMEFEERDRIG I
646,00078 7T (2021 4F : 697,000/87T) °

BEERR  SREITHEEAON XA R
WEAKRMN - RE &R &SR S 8B B
B RBRA R & B P E S RO AR -

B kR

AEBAZNERUBRRDBE/RATE
AAABENMBEEN EHRAREMESE
BRER - GUREDTERBAAZERE

BRETE °

R2022%F 12318 MR ETBRAKZER
FEES  WMHEEN WD 5%  MrEHE
fh S BT BIA £ B AR BB E RIS
1N,/ 49303,00058 7T ©

SRR EEENFAEE TMERSH
RERFEBEMESIER BB NI -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. IEREEEEREEEK (&)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Price risk (Continued)

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent price risk because the exposure
at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

E*ﬁﬂm (IIE)

EEERE  SRESMEMRENERKER

WEARE RERARFESHRITENER
BER M A E2022FE 12 AN B IEEERME

HEE

29. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE 20. A EHEE

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair NTHREBVBREERNE 135 A TER

value or required to disclose their fair value in these consolidated EIREZ=ZRRAFEZHEINIEAFEET

financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels EHAR %?éﬁﬁa#ﬁzﬁ?ﬁi‘“ BHEERER
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value "¥1§Z§F&E\L CAFEEFEDERY

Measurement” with the fair value measurement categorised in its HEREGEEEATE Zﬁ’fﬁ A i A BUR

entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the f’Ei"fé OB GAMBERERDOT ¢

entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

e Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active o F—H(EEEH  AEERFEHH
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can AIMGHEREEXBERERT S ZH
access at the measurement date; B CRECAE)

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within . - ﬁ?‘kﬁtffﬁ&ifﬂ%%ﬁm
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either Zﬁm?\%( B E—RBEZRERI:
directly or indirectly; and &

e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or e ZEB=R(BREEH  EEXBEZ2TA
liability. B ABUE -

(a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value (a) BAFEFENEERERE

2022 2021
Level 1 Level 1
B E—
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET
Assets measured at fair value RAFEFENEE
Financial assets at FVPL BATEFABENMBEEE
Equity investments, listed in Hong Kong &8 E R AR E
(Note 16) (KiaE16) 6,050 -

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers among Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair
value measurements.

REE2022F %2021 F12 A31 B IEF
B % F_HZREBE=ZFRFE
£ EIEEAER -

><l¢
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e RRME
& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

29. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED) 29. AFERE (&)

(b) Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure,
but not measured at fair value

All other financial assets and liabilities including trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities/obligations under finance
leases are carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability and
growth. The management considers the total equity as disclosed
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Group’s
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of
the Group. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or return capital to shareholders. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(b) EQ2FEHREELIFRAFEF

BEvEERERE

R 20224 K 2021 F12 A31H » FrA H
W BEERAE (BREESREME
WHIE - B 5 REMERNRIE 2T
BITER - BITEHREES  FFTEER
rEMEHEETNHEEAE EMDH
REHENFETESEAZE 2 REEE -

0. EXERE

AEBEREANBEBRAREREEIAFE
REEEZQENEN  BEREEERAR
REMBRRREHREN - LNERFZENELRLE
B REEAREAARIFAEENIZE M
BR -EEEREAVBRARFTHRENA
RaERAAKEHER -

REBEERWEHRT MNERBEERERE -
NHEREEEANEBRREER L5 EAX
SERRZEARFT K - BEFIABERE
B AKBEAFAERINRENKRESSE &
THRIMBRBEEESD - B E2022F &
2021 F12 A1 B ILFEHHEMBEZ - BUR
MR LR -
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

REMBHRRME

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £

B Z=20220F 12 A31 HIFFZE

31. AR EMRE

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary "E—FEHEBRR - -

Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries i NGRS 118,430 112,372
Prepayment B RIE 351 320
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNES 10,134 16,036
128,915 128,728
Current liabilities RBEE

Other payables H b~ 5OE 80 90
Tax payable FE IR 3 -
83 90
Net current assets REBEEFE 128,832 128,638
NET ASSETS EEFE 128,832 128,638

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital % AR 23 15,500 15,500
Reserves {1 31(a) 113,332 113,138
TOTAL EQUITY A 128,832 128,638

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023 and signed

on its behalf by

LAU Yu Leung

AP BIMRARCEFTEN2023F3 A24 A #lt
WX EET THATEEARES

Director

EF

LAU Tak Fung Wallace

gEe
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31.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

31(a) Movement of share capital and reserves

REMBHRRME

& Z=20220%F 12 A31 HIFFZE

31. A A BRI ER (R)

3@ BREARBFEES

171

Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
&S IR E ZETEE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET FA&T
(Note 24(a))
(Bt 7t 24(a))
At 1 January 2021 R2021%F1 818 14,000 86,455 (2,531) 97,924
Profit for the year and total ~ FEH M RFEELE
comprehensive income Yo 2 7E
for the year - - 134 134
Issue of ordinary shares Pl & M 217 & i AR
upon placing (Note 23) (Bts£23) 1,500 29,080 - 30,580
At 31 December 2021 F2021 12 A 318 15,500 115,535 (2,397) 128,638
At 1 January 2022 MH2022%41 818 15,500 115,535 (2,397) 128,638
Profit for the year and total ~ FEH M R FEELE
comprehensive income Wz B 5E
for the year - - 194 194
At 31 December 2022 7A2022%F 12831 H 15,500 115,535 (2,203) 128,832
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY MBHME

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and A TNAKRKEEBEREASBRFEED FIEEE AN
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years. EEHBERE -

RESULTS E 3

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$’000
FET FET FEL FET FET

Revenue U 25 336,962 336,704 365715 488,964 655,518
(Loss) Profit before tax FrE AT (E548) i 7 (5,147) 2,512 19,400 26,502 32,896
Income tax (expenses) credits  FT13#: (B ) iK% (83) 910) 6,825 (3,719) (5,254)
(Loss) Profit for the year FE(BE) &N (5,230) 1,602 26,225 22,783 27,642
(Loss) Profit for the year LATATEEFE
attributable to: (E518) @ F -
Equity holders of the Company AR AlEzmIFEE A (5,230) 1,602 26,225 22,783 27,642
(5,230) 1,602 26,225 22,783 27,642
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
M®128381H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000
TET T T TET FTERT

Total assets BEBE 220,900 242,606 347,940 396,514 413,132
Total liabilities BERRE 107,821 128,561 205,519 199,197 192,742

113,079 114,045 142,421 197,317 220,390

Equity attributable to AT AL
Equity holders of the Company AR ARz A A 113,079 114,045 142,421 197,317 220,390
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